
CABINET 
 
Venue: Town Hall, Moorgate 

Street, Rotherham.  S60  
2TH 

Date: Wednesday, 21 November 2012 

  Time: 10.30 a.m. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
  
 
1. Questions from Members of the Public  
  

 
2. To determine if the following matters are to be considered under the categories 

suggested in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972.  
  

 
3. To determine any item which the Chairman is of the opinion should be 

considered as a matter of urgency.  
  

 
4. Declarations of Interest  
  

 
5. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 7th November, 2012 (copy supplied 

separately)  
  

 
6. Housing Strategy (Pages 2 - 27) 

 
- Strategic Director of Neighbourhoods and Adult Services to report. 

 
7. Rotherham's Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (Pages 28 - 39) 

 
- Strategic Director of Resources to report. 

 
8. Library and Information Service Review Consultation Feedback (Pages 40 - 67) 

 
- Strategic Director of Environment and Development Services to report. 

 
9. Response to Self Regulation Select Commission Review Report into the 

Council’s Budget Setting Process (Pages 68 - 73) 

 
- Strategic Director of Resources to report. 

 
10. Response to Scrutiny Review: The Role of School Governors (Pages 74 - 82) 

 
- Strategic Director of Children and Young People’s Services to report. 

 
11. Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 
The following items are likely to be considered in the absence of the press and 
public as being exempt under Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended March 2006) (information relates to 

 



finance and business affairs). 
 
12. New Discretionary Rate Relief Top Up Applications (Pages 83 - 85) 

 
- Strategic Director of Resources to report. 

 
13. New Discretionary Rate Relief Applications (Pages 86 - 88) 

 
- Strategic Director of Resources to report. 

 
In accordance with Section (7) of the Local Authorities (Executive 

Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012 the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board has 

agreed that those items marked (*) contain decisions which need to be acted 
upon as a matter of urgency and which cannot be reasonably deferred (see 

notice attached) 
 

 



Cabinet Meeting – 21st November, 2012 
 
Take notice, in accordance with Regulation 5 of the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, that the following report  is to be considered in the private 
part of the meeting without having provided the required twenty-eight days’ 
notice:- 
 

• New Discretionary Rate Relief Top Up Applications 
 

An exemption under paragraph 3 (Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding 
that information)) of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 is requested, as this report concerns information relating 
organisations currently in receipt of Section 43 Mandatory Relief which 
have applied for 20% Discretionary Relief top up. 
 
The report recommends that a decision be made and confirmation as to 
whether rate relief should be granted or not. 
 
Accordingly the report needs to be  considered as a matter of urgency. 

 

• New Discretionary Rate Relief Applications 
 

An exemption under paragraph 3 (Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding 
that information)) of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 is requested, as this report concerns information relating 
organisations currently in receipt of Section 43 Mandatory Relief which 
have applied for 20% Discretionary Relief top up. 
 
The report recommends that a decision be made and confirmation as to 
whether rate relief should be granted or not. 
 
Accordingly the report needs to be  considered as a matter of urgency. 

 
The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board has agreed that 
the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 
 
 
 
Jacqueline Collins 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services 
9th November, 2012. 
 
 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



 

1. Meeting Cabinet 

2. Date 21st November 2012 

3. Title Housing Strategy 

4. Directorate Neighbourhoods and Adult Services 

 
5. Summary 
 
Rotherham’s Housing Strategy needs to be rewritten in order to take account of public 
spending cuts and national policy changes.  A new draft Housing Strategy was produced 
in May, and shared with Directorate Leadership Team and Cabinet Member for Safe and 
Attractive Neighbourhoods prior to the comprehensive programme of consultation which 
took place between June and August.  The draft has been updated to take account of 
feedback from Members, staff, partner agencies, the voluntary and community sector and 
Rotherham residents, and is now undergoing the required process for final sign off and 
endorsement. 
 
The draft Strategy was presented to Improving Places Select Commission on 17th October, 
who endorsed the draft and made a number of comments which were presented in a 
report to Cabinet Member on 29th October 2012.  Cabinet Member approved the draft, 
subject to minor amendments, and the final draft is now presented to Cabinet for formal 
approval. 
 
 
6. Recommendations 
 

• Formally approve the draft Housing Strategy. 
 

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL – REPORT TO MEMBERS 

Agenda Item 6Page 2



7. Proposals and details 
 
7.1 Background information about the draft Housing Strategy 
 
It was agreed by Neighbourhoods and Adult Services Directorate Leadership Team that 
the Housing Strategy should be a 30 year strategy linked to the 30 year HRA business 
plan, but with a focus on the key deliverables for the next three years. Each new 
instalment of the strategy will be produced every three years, each with its own ‘brand’, 
e.g. part 1, 2013-16, focuses on continuing to improve the quality and choice of 
Rotherham’s housing offer.  The draft Housing Strategy is deliberately concise and 
accessible to everybody, including tenants and residents, and we have used a simple 
format of ‘ten commitments’: 
 
1) We will deliver Council housing that meets people’s needs  
2) We will increase and improve the supply of affordable rented housing in Rotherham 
3) We will deliver against our Local Investment Plan 
4) We will make communities safer 
5) We will work with partners to help to ensure everyone can afford to heat their home 
6) We will help people to access the support they need 
7) We will help people in Rotherham’s most disadvantaged communities 
8) We will engage with communities and individuals so that we have a better 

understanding of how to meet their needs and aspirations 
9) We will help to improve Rotherham’s private rented sector 
10) We will help people who wish to own their home 
 
We will also produce a separate, new document – Rotherham’s annual housing 
intelligence report – to sit next to the Strategy, that will contain all relevant statistics, 
analysis, survey results (‘where do you want to live’ survey) housing market information 
etc.  This will be an extremely useful resource, and it will be easy to keep this up to date 
rather than having to wait for the next Housing Strategy instalment.  Once the Housing 
Strategy document has been approved a separate robust action plan will be produced to 
contain the finer detail of each commitment and enable us to publish six monthly updates 
on the Council’s website. 
 
7.2 Joined up approach to consultation 
 
We identified opportunities to consult on other key issues concurrently with the Housing 
Strategy, which enabled us to use resources more effectively and ensure a holistic 
approach to strategic housing issues.   These were as follows: 
 

• Changes to the Allocations Policy (the Localism Act 2011 allows us to apply locally 
determined criteria and changes to how the housing register is managed) 

• Development of a new Strategic Tenancy Policy (we asked people for their views on 
fixed term tenancies, as introduced by the Localism Act 2011, as RMBC must publish a 
Strategic Tenancy Policy by January 2013) 

• Amendment to the new Homelessness Strategy (we advised people of the new power 
to discharge the Council’s homelessness duty into the private rented sector) 

• Supporting People Strategy 

• Warmer Homes Strategy 
 
 
 

Page 3



7.3 Consultation programme 
 
In line with best practice, consultation was carried out over a three month period and 
advice and support was provided by Corporate Community Engagement Officers.  Each of 
the following activities primarily focused on the Housing Strategy but also generated 
feedback that was useful to the simultaneous consultations listed above. 
 
General publicity: Webpage, dedicated email address, online questionnaire (275 
responses), press release, publicised via all RMBC communication channels, emails to 
Members, all NAS staff, all partners, groups, communities of interest 
 
Elected Members: Seminar, Area Assemblies 
 
Staff and partner agencies: Emails, participation in public events, participation in ‘fine-
tuning’ sub-groups, Strategic Housing Partnership, Forums, Supporting People providers’ 
forum 
 
Public consultation: Two public events at Springwell Gardens, RotherFed meeting, 
Learning from Customers forum, Area Assemblies, Tenant Quality and Standards 
Monitoring group, private landlords forum 
 
The above consultation generated a vast amount of feedback, some of the most common 
themes being: 
 

• Working with deprived communities important – but don’t forget other areas deserve 
support 

• Work in a more joined up way between services 

• Lots on views how we allocate housing 

• We should enforce tenancy conditions 

• Improve how we communicate with people particularly young people, deaf people, 
people with learning disabilities 

 
Once all of the material had been reviewed the draft Housing Strategy was updated, and 
eight small sub-groups were organised to fine-tune each of the commitments.  These were 
led by NAS officers and included staff from other directorates and external organisations to 
provide an element of challenge and benchmarking.  Once these sessions had all 
concluded, the Strategy was again updated and sent out to all staff and partners that had 
been involved, for any final comments. 
 
7.4 Improving Places Select Commission 
 
Members acknowledged that they had had various opportunities to comment on and 
influence the draft Housing Strategy, and overall they endorsed the document and agreed 
that it should be reported to Cabinet Member.  Other positive comments on the draft 
included ease of reading due to its accessible format, and the fact that it is realistic and 
focuses on needs rather than solely on aspirations. 
 
A number of questions were raised and discussion ensued regarding particular elements 
of the Housing Strategy: 
 

• The concurrent consultation on the possibility of long, fixed term tenancies for large 
Council properties was discussed, due to recent media coverage. 

Page 4



 

• The importance of ensuring Housing Champions and other front-line staff are available 
to work in the areas to tackle antisocial behaviour and other housing management 
issues was noted. 

 

• It was acknowledged that it is equally important to ensure high standards of customer 
service provision via the Contact Centre, and an update on recruitment to vacancies 
within customer services was provided. 

 

• Members noted the challenges of ensuring the problems that sometimes occur when 
younger and older tenants live together in blocks of flats are dealt with effectively. 

 

• There was a general discussion regards ASB and how RMBC compares to other local 
authorities, and the Director of Housing and Neighbourhood Services provided detailed 
facts and figures regarding the enforcement action that has been taken against 
perpetrators of ASB over the past year. 

 

• Members noted that officers must enable them to enact the commitment to take a zero 
tolerance approach to drug and alcohol related ASB and criminality, by providing high 
quality evidence. 

 

• It was noted that in delivering one and two bedroom properties it is essential that we 
consider the size of rooms and ensure adequate provision of storage space. 

 
All of the above comments, while not necessarily requiring amendment to the draft 
Housing Strategy, were taken on board and where appropriate will be reflected in the 
action plan.  Updates on specific issues can be provided to the Select Commission as and 
when required. 
 
As a final point, Improving Places Select Commission noted that they should be involved in 
monitoring progress against the Housing Strategy action plan and this should be reflected 
in the work programme. 
 
8. Finance 
 
The consultation programme has largely been delivered within existing resources and 
costs have been kept to a minimum.  We will need to develop a Housing Strategy action 
plan with a clear indication of costs and funding sources. 
 
9. Risks and uncertainties 
 
There is always a risk that the Housing Strategy will become out of date due to the rapidly 
changing national legislative and policy environment.  However, the housing intelligence 
report can be amended if necessary and we will have a webpage with an overview of the 
Housing Strategy that can be updated to reflect any major changes.  The next instalment 
of the 30 year Housing Strategy, 2016-2019, will be started in late 2015. 
 
10. Policy and performance agenda implications 
 
The Housing Strategy aligns with national policy and strategy and will support local 
priorities, including the vision of the Local Investment Plan (“our vision is that all 
communities are empowered and able to engage in and benefit from, the transformation of 

Page 5



Rotherham, with no one place or person left behind”), and the Community Strategy draft 
priorities for 2012-15: 
 
1) Help local people and businesses benefit from a growing economy 
2) Ensure the best start in life for children and families 
3) Support those that are vulnerable within our communities 
 
Production of the Housing Strategy is also an objective within this year’s NAS Service 
Plan. 
 
11. Background papers and consultation 
 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix 1 – final draft Housing Strategy 
 
Background papers 
 

• (Existing) Rotherham Housing Strategy updated June 2010 and April 2011 

• National housing strategy – Laying the Foundations (CLG November 2011) 

• Localism Act 2011 
 
Consultation 
 
A comprehensive programme of consultation has been completed, as summarised in 7.3. 
 
12. Contact name 
 
Jane Davies-Haire 
Housing Reform Co-ordinator 
Jane.davies-haire@rotherham.gov.uk  
01709 334970 / 07500102498 
 
 

Page 6



 

Page 7



   
  

 2 

Contents 
 

Foreword  Page 3 

Introduction to Rotherham’s 30 year Housing Strategy  Page 4 

Introduction to part 1: 2013-16  Page 5 

Commitment 1: We will deliver Council housing that meets people’s needs Page 7 

Commitment 2: We will increase and improve the supply of affordable rented 
housing in Rotherham  

Page 8 

Commitment 3: We will deliver against our Local Investment Plan  Page 9 

Commitment 4: We will make communities safer  Page 10 

Commitment 5: We will work with partners to ensure everyone can afford to 
heat their home 

Page 11 

Commitment 6: We will help people to access the support they need Page 12 

Commitment 7: We will help people in Rotherham’s most disadvantaged 
communities  

Page 14 

Commitment 8: We will engage with communities and individuals so that we 
have a better understanding of how to meet their needs and aspirations 

Page 15 

Commitment 9: We will help to improve Rotherham’s private rented sector Page 16 

Commitment 10: We will help people who wish to own their home Page 17 

Finance Page 18 

Guide to terms used in the Housing Strategy Page 19 

Linked documents Page 21 

Contact information Page 21 

 
We have tried to keep jargon to a minimum in this document, as we want it to be 
accessible to everybody, but some of the terms used may need further explanation.  We 
have therefore included a ‘guide to terms used in the Housing Strategy’ on pages 20-22. 
The detailed actions which underpin this document are contained within a separate 
housing strategy action plan. 

Page 8



   
  

 3 

Foreword 
 
Welcome to Rotherham’s new Housing Strategy 2013-2043. 
 
Now that the Council has control of its own housing finances and has set up an ambitious 30 year 
business plan, it makes sense to have an accompanying 30 year Housing Strategy to ensure we 
have a coherent vision for how we want to deliver services in the future.  However, we also need to 
set out clearly what we will do in the short and medium term, so we will split the Strategy into 
chunks of three years.  Here is part 1, in which we set out how we are going to deliver ten key 
commitments between 2013 and 2016. 
 
Despite the Coalition Government’s major public spending cuts and the ongoing national economic 
difficulties, there is much to be positive about in Rotherham: 
 

• We are for the first time in control of our housing finances and will invest millions of pounds into 
our repairs and maintenance and capital programmes, to ensure we continue to provide Council 
homes of the highest quality possible 

• We are about to embark on a major programme of new Council housing 

• Performance in a number of key service areas is high, for example customer satisfaction with 
our repairs service hit 99.63% in May 2012 

• When we recently conducted a survey to find out about people’s housing needs and aspirations, 
we learned that over two thirds of people do not wish to move from their home in Rotherham, 
the main reason being that they are happy with where they live 

 
We are determined that we will be one of the best housing providers in the country and are well on 
our way to achieving this.  However there are many significant challenges ahead. 
 
We have a continuing and growing need for affordable housing, and this will only be exacerbated 
by the imminent major reforms to Welfare Benefits.  Private rented housing is therefore likely to 
become much more prominent, and it is critical that we use our influence to drive up standards and 
ensure the private sector can offer affordable, decent and stable homes for people in housing 
need.  This may include helping to ensure that significant numbers of new private rented homes 
are built in Rotherham – which will of course help to improve neighbourhoods and create training 
opportunities and jobs for local people.  Another key challenge is crime and antisocial behaviour.  
People in Rotherham have the right to feel safe in their home and on the streets, and to live free 
from crime and ASB.  We will take strong enforcement action where needed to help people to 
enjoy living in their neighbourhoods. 
 
During the development of this Strategy we have consulted a wide range of local people and 
stakeholders and listened carefully to ensure their views are reflected in the Strategy.  The 
document is short – less than 20 pages, as we want to get straight to the point and ensure it is 
accessible to a wide range of people.  However, we will be delivering a wide range of initiatives 
and improvements through collaborative working with our valued partnerships in the Borough, and 
you will be able to read about progress against our ten commitments in our first six monthly update 
in June 2013.  
 

          

 I hope you enjoy reading the new Housing Strategy. 

 
Councillor Rose McNeely 
Cabinet Member for Safe and Attractive Neighbourhoods 
 

Page 9



   
  

 4 

 

Introduction to Rotherham’s 30 year Housing Strategy  
 

We know that good or bad housing has a direct impact on health, educational 
achievement, economic prosperity and community safety – all of which are important to 
the success and wellbeing of Rotherham’s communities.  Housing therefore makes a key 
contribution to delivering Rotherham Partnership’s Community Strategy, whose three 
priorities for 2012-15 are: 
 
1) Help local people and businesses benefit from a growing economy 
2) Ensure the best start in life for children and families 
3) Support those that are vulnerable within our communities 
 
The 30 year Housing Strategy reflects the crucial links between housing and other key 
services, particularly health.  It sits alongside the Council’s 30 year housing business plan. 
 
A picture of Rotherham at the beginning of the 30 year strategy 

 

• Diverse and vibrant blend of people, cultures and communities 

• Mix of urban areas and villages (about 70% of the borough is rural) 

• Rich industrial heritage and over recent years investment in new areas such as 
information technology and light engineering 

• Population steadily increasing – 256,000 in April 2012 

• Ageing population – there will be an additional 20,000 residents over the age of 65 over 
the next 30 years, and relative decline in younger population 

• Employment rate has fallen below national and regional averages since recession 

• Income levels are also below national averages 

• The educational attainment of our school leavers is improving each year 

• Approximately 110,000 households in borough – of which 20,993 are Council homes 

• Large number of people on the Council’s housing register – 27,103 in April 2012 

• Vast majority of Council homes classed as ‘decent’ but significant decency issues in the 
private rented sector 

• There is a low housing demand in some areas and an increasing housing affordability 
gap between the most and least deprived areas 

• The number of new homes built is at an all-time low 

• In 2011, 18.2% of Rotherham’s households were living in fuel poverty, in particular 
people renting privately 

• Low crime rates compared to national and sub-regional averages 
 
Vision: Where we want to get to by the end of the 30 year period 
 

• People living in high quality homes, whether in the social rented, private rented or home 
ownership sector 

• Rotherham Council playing its part by being the best housing provider in the country, 
delivering high quality services and support, and peaceful and well-managed 
neighbourhoods 

• A smaller gap between the most and least disadvantaged neighbourhoods, so that all of 
Rotherham’s people can live in safe, healthy and vibrant communities 

• No households living in homes that are poor in terms of energy efficiency 
 
 

Page 10



   
  

 5 

 
This is our 30 year vision, and we will set out how we will deliver this in three-yearly 
instalments.  The first instalment relates to 2013-16, therefore to the end of the current 
Comprehensive Spending Review period.  During this period of severely restricted public 
finance, we must focus on making our resources go as far as possible to continue to 
improve the quality and choice of Rotherham’s housing offer.  The next instalment, 2016-
19 may have a different focus but the 30 year vision will remain the same. 
 
 

Introduction to part 1: 2013-16 - Continuing to improve the quality 

and choice of Rotherham’s housing offer 
 
Wider strategic context 
 
Nationally, the Coalition Government has embarked on a massive programme of budget 
cuts which has caused us to drastically reduce our planned housing and regeneration 
investment.  Other major national changes include: 
 

• The Localism Act 2011 has brought about a number of major changes that affect 
housing including changes to how Council housing is allocated and managed 

• 2011 saw the publication of the Government’s national Housing Strategy, Laying the 
Foundations, introducing a wide range of new initiatives particularly focused on 
‘reigniting the housing market and getting the nation building again’ 

• The Right to Buy rules have been changed to make discounts higher and therefore 
more Council homes are likely to be lost through this route 

• Housing Revenue Account Self Financing has allowed local authorities to control their 
own rental income which provides opportunities to borrow and invest over 30 years 

• The Welfare Reform Act 2012 will bring significant change, particularly in respect of 
Universal Credit (housing benefit and local housing allowance will be incorporated into a 
single benefits payment) and the new ‘bedroom tax’ which makes it more important that 
people are living in homes that are not larger than they require 

• The Department of Health’s White Paper Caring for our future: reforming care and 
support (July 2012) demonstrates the contribution a good home makes towards the 
health and wellbeing of individuals and sets out a new system that will support 
individuals to live independently for as long as possible 

• People are finding it difficult to buy homes due to the economic recession and a 
reluctance by to lend to people without large deposits 

 
At the South Yorkshire level, the Regional Spatial Strategy is to be superceded as a policy 
basis in favour of localism and a new approach to driving house building, based on local 
demand, acceptance and incentives.  Also, the Sheffield City Region Local Enterprise 
Partnership has become a key channel for accessing external funding for housing growth. 
 
Local strategic context 
 
At the local level, the overarching strategic plan for Rotherham is the Community Strategy 
2012-15, which describes the vision for the future of the Borough and sets our key targets 
and actions that all partner organisations are committed to achieving.  There are also links 
between housing and each of the Council’s corporate plan objectives, in particular making 
sure no community is left behind and helping to create safe and healthy communities. 
 

Page 11



   
  

 6 

The other key strategic document at the local level is the Local Plan (former Local 
Development Framework), and the Core Strategy (the strategic part of the Local Plan) 
states that Rotherham requires 850 new homes per year up to the year 2028.  RMBC has 
also maintained its Local Investment Plan, an important document that sets out our 
geographical housing and regeneration investment priorities, and although much of this 
remains unfunded due to the widespread public spending cuts, delivery against the Plan 
remains one of our ten commitments. 
 
More recently RMBC has focused its interventions on the most disadvantaged areas, as 
defined by the Indices of Multiple Deprivation 2010.  These areas have, in the main, 
suffered from long term deprivation and have featured amongst the worst in the country 
based on their rankings in the Index of Multiple Deprivation for many years.  
 
In delivering the Housing Strategy we also need to make links with other important related 
documents, particularly: 
 

• Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

• Rotherham’s Warmer Homes Strategy 

• Rotherham’s Homelessness Prevention Strategy 

• Rotherham’s Supporting People Strategy 

• Rotherham’s Child Poverty Strategy 
 
Areas of focus within the Housing Strategy part 1 (2013-16) 
 
In recent years we have delivered major investments and improvements to Rotherham’s 
housing, some of our key achievements being: 
 

• Delivery of the Housing Market Renewal Programme 

• 171 new homes in the town centre and 132 new Council houses built 

• Decent Homes Standard achieved for Council’s housing stock 

• Number of empty Council properties reduced to an all-time low of under 150 

• Number of households in temporary accommodation reduced to an all time low of 22 
 
Despite severely restricted public finances, we have chosen to increase our investment in 
delivering new housing, improving our existing housing and improving services.  This will 
help us to achieve our ambition of being the best housing service provider in the country. 
However we have many issues to tackle, and we need to focus our resources on the 
things that will have the biggest impact on Rotherham’s residents, in particular the need to 
kick start the building of more affordable homes.  For the next three years, we have 
expressed the areas we intend to focus on as ‘ten commitments’ to the people of 
Rotherham. 
 
We have consulted widely to make sure these commitments reflect the concerns and 
priorities of Rotherham’s people.  Six monthly progress updates will be posted on the 
Council’s website www.rotherham.gov.uk, and the next instalment of the Housing Strategy 
(part 2: 2016-19) will be produced in late 2015. 
 
A key accountable officer is included for each commitment, but for more detail on who is 
accountable for each action please refer to the Housing Strategy Action Plan on the 
Council’s website. 
 

Page 12



   
  

 7 

Commitment 1: We will deliver Council housing that meets 
people’s needs  
 
We want to provide the best housing services in the country.  The demand for 
Rotherham’s Council housing continues to increase, and as housing plays a key role in 
people’s health and wellbeing, it is essential that we ensure our housing meets the needs 
and aspirations of its residents, now and in the future. 
 
How we will deliver this commitment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Accountable Officer: Tom Bell, Strategic Housing and Investment Manager 

We will ensure the Council’s housing stock meets the highest standards: 
 

• We will increase investment to ensure that we meet our tenants’ expectations of high 
standards and all properties comply with the decent homes standard.   

 

• We will identify and pursue every opportunity to improve the energy efficiency of our housing 
stock, where funding is available (see commitment 5) 

 

• With others we will deliver environmental and public realm improvements to ensure 
neighbourhoods are safe and attractive 

 
We will acquire, build and encourage new housing provision that meets the needs of 
Rotherham’s changing population: 
 

• We will ensure that new Council housing meets high design and sustainability standards and 
is provided in areas of high need  

 

• We will work in partnership with housing providers to deliver more housing for disabled 
people and rural communities and more bungalows for small households as indicated by the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 

• We will access new resources available via the Department of Health White Paper – Caring 
for our future: reforming care and support 

 

• Households are generally smaller and the new benefit rules and our attempts to free up 
under-occupied homes mean that we need more one and two bedroom homes.  We will 
deliver more of these homes, including where appropriate remodelling existing stock, while 
continuing to meet the requirements of larger households. 

 

• We will investigate the viability of delivering homes of modular, off-site construction in 
Rotherham in order to cut down time and cost and ensure high quality 

 
As well as delivering new housing, we need to free up existing Council housing by ensuring that 
the right people are in the right homes.  We will do this by: 
 

• Implementing a new policy to ensure we allocate homes in a more equitable manner to meet 
housing need and that we assist tenants that are ‘under-occupying’ properties larger than 
they need, to move to more suitable accommodation 

 

• Helping Council tenants who wish to move to other areas, for example for employment 
reasons, to exchange with other tenants via the national Homeswapper database 

 

• Implementing a new strategic tenancy policy, as required by the Localism Act 2011, that sets 
out information about the length of Council tenancies 

Page 13



   
  

 8 

Commitment 2: We will increase and improve the supply of 
affordable rented housing in Rotherham  
 
‘Affordable’ housing is aimed at people who are unable to afford to buy or rent on the open 
market, and can either be social rented housing (from the Council or a housing 
association) or shared ownership housing.  The need for affordable housing in Rotherham 
has grown dramatically over the past few years and will continue to grow, for many 
reasons, including the following: 
 

• The population is growing, and ageing, and household sizes are becoming smaller, 
meaning more people than ever before are seeking a place to live 

• The average household income is relatively low, and with the forthcoming changes to 
welfare benefits more families will find themselves living in unaffordable housing 

• It is harder to secure a mortgage and large deposits are required, therefore more people 
will need to rent for longer, and more ‘intermediate’ housing is needed (commitment 10) 

• The Right to Buy could lead to a decrease in the availability of Council housing.  

• Many developments are no longer proving to be financially viable because of current 
weak housing market conditions.  Development sites are stalled and developers are not 
able to build enough new homes to meet the local housing demand. 

• The temporary three year measure introduced by Government to enable developers to 
renegotiate Section 106 agreements on stalled sites, may reduce the number of 
affordable housing units delivered in Rotherham 

 
The Council has strong ambitions to kick start the delivery of new affordable homes in 
Rotherham by working with developers and housing association partners, and also to build 
more Council homes – and we have already made solid progress.  In 2011, RMBC built 
132 new Council homes through the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) new build 
programme, the first in over 20 years, which signalled the beginning of a new era with the 
Council in a strong, leading position to get Rotherham building again.  We will continue to 
build new Council housing, however the funding regime has changed and we must 
therefore look to new ways of delivering more homes. 
 
How we will deliver this commitment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Working in partnership to increase the supply of affordable rented housing 
 

• We will build or buy at least 150 new Council homes between 2013 and 2015 
 

• We will spend a minimum of £3m on acquiring new properties for Council rent, including 
Right to Buy buy-backs, where this fulfils the requirements of our new strategic acquisitions 
protocol 

 

• We will work with private developers to assist them in building new homes on delayed 
development sites and maximise the number of affordable homes that can be delivered 
through Section 106 planning gain. In addition, we will work closely with housing 
association partners and other developers to deliver the National Affordable Housing 
Programme 

 

• We will work with our partners to take every opportunity to attract new resources into the 
borough, primarily via the HCA’s Get Britain Building scheme and other funding schemes 
available at the Sheffield City Region level 

Page 14



   
  

 9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Accountable Officer: Tom Bell, Strategic Housing and Investment Manager 
 
 

Commitment 3: We will deliver against our Local Investment Plan  
 
Rotherham’s Local Investment Plan (LIP) sets out our future ambitions and visions for 
sustainable place-making in Rotherham.  It was produced in collaboration with the Homes 
and Communities Agency (HCA) in September 2010, and while the financing regime has 
changed dramatically, much of the information is still very relevant.  The areas identified in 
the LIP are still high priority for investment, however economic growth and employment will 
be key drivers to successful delivery.  The LIP has three overall strategic objectives, to: 
 

• Address twin challenges of growth and renewal in a difficult economic context. 

• Make a significant contribution to the National Affordable Housing Programme 

• Accelerate progress in the development of sustainable communities 
 
The LIP contains 13 key projects.  We will focus on the delivery of the boroughwide 
development strategy defined in the LIP, although many schemes will come forward 
without the level of public sector funding support initially anticipated.  In the current 
economic climate it will be a significant challenge to maintain the depth and breadth of the 
LIP ambitions.  Out of the 13 projects earmarked for intervention in the LIP, five urban 
areas have been shortlisted for infrastructure funding through the Sheffield City Region 
Infrastructure Fund (SCRIF), alongside two housing growth areas – Waverley and 
Bassingthorpe Farm - identified as having the potential to trigger important new 
employment opportunities and economic growth in Rotherham. 
 
The full list of projects that have been submitted via the SCRIF are therefore as follows: 
Rotherham Town Centre (multiple sites), Chesterhill / Dalton, Bellows Road / Parkgate, 
Maltby, Waverley and Bassingthorpe Farm (subject to Green Belt Policy negotiations). 
We will maintain our ambition to deliver regeneration activities to all prioritised areas in a 
challenging economic environment.  One of the key ways in which we will do this is to 
make the best use of Council-owned and HCA-owned land and property assets, for 
example by offering discounts on land for development or allowing deferred payment. 
 
Accountable Officer: Tom Bell, Strategic Housing and Investment Manager 

• We will continue to implement the next phases of the Waverley development, and to bring 
forward the proposed urban extension of Bassingthorpe Farm (subject to Green Belt Policy 
negotiations), by liaising with communities and private developers to bring forward quality 
residential developments and support economic growth and employment in Rotherham 

 
Managing existing homes better, to increase the amount of affordable rented housing 
 

• We will keep the level of empty Council properties low maintaining top quartile performance 
 

• We will work with private owners and housing associations to bring at least 18 empty 
homes back into use as social rented housing 

 

• We will explore options to introduce a scheme to provide loans to private sector landlords to 
bring properties up to a decent standard in return for fixed-period social housing tenancies 

 

Page 15



   
  

 
10 

Commitment 4: We will make communities safer 
 

Crime, anti-social behaviour (ASB) and concerns about being a victim are significant 
issues for many Rotherham residents, despite low recorded crime and ASB rates 
compared to national and sub-regional averages.  Crime, ASB and feeling safe in their 
communities remain high on residents’ lists of priorities. 
 
The impact that crime and ASB has on the lives of vulnerable victims can be particularly 
harmful, and identifying and supporting those vulnerable individuals is a key priority for the 
Council and its partnership with South Yorkshire Police. 
  
Our residents have the right to feel safe in their own home, on the streets and to live free 
from crime and ASB that affects their quality of life. Tackling these issues is vital to making 
people feel safer and improving their quality of life.  We will work in partnership with the 
Police to provide a range of preventative and diversionary activities and initiatives – but 
where crime and ASB persist we will take strong enforcement action against perpetrators. 
 
How we will deliver this commitment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Accountable Officer: Paul Walsh, Housing and Communities Manager 

 

• We will take firmer, faster and better coordinated enforcement action against the 
perpetrators of crime and ASB, and will keep people suffering from ASB better 
informed of the action we are taking  

 

• We will ensure that private landlords are made aware of the responsibility that they 
have for reducing antisocial behaviour caused by their tenants 

 

• In partnership with South Yorkshire Police we will introduce a new risk management 
framework to enable us to better support vulnerable persons and ‘out of hours’ we 
will carry out joint ‘noise nuisance patrols to better support our communities  

 

• We will take a zero tolerance approach to drug and alcohol related criminality in our 
communities, particularly cannabis cultivation in Council owned properties. 

 

Page 16



   
  

 
11 

Commitment 5: We will work with partners to ensure everyone 
can afford to heat their home 
 
In 2011 18.2% of Rotherham’s households were living in fuel poverty, in particular people 
privately renting and those living in pre-1919 terraced properties.  We must learn from 
research programmes such as the Keeping Warm in Later Life Project (KWILLT) and the 
Warm Homes, Healthy People programme, to improve the health and well-being of our 
most vulnerable residents.  We will work with partners to reduce the risk of cold related 
illness and excess winter deaths, and identify ways of helping people out of fuel poverty by 
increasing the thermal efficiency of their homes and helping to lower fuel costs. 
 
This Housing Strategy is aligned with Rotherham’s Warmer Homes Strategy, whose five 
aims are: 
 

• Work in partnership to deliver Rotherham’s Warmer Homes Strategy 

• Residents are aware of affordable warmth issues and services available 

• Improve the energy efficiency of Rotherham’s housing stock 

• Health and wellbeing is improved through warmer homes 

• Maximise income and minimise energy costs for all Rotherham residents 
 
How we will deliver this commitment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Accountable Officers: Paul Benson, Private Sector Housing Officer and Paul 
Maplethorpe, Affordable Warmth and Sustainable Energy Coordinator 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

• We will offer advice on energy efficiency, grants and schemes across the borough, 
but particularly for those most at risk of ill health as a result of cold homes 

 

• We will use Community Energy Saving Programme funding to carry out energy 
efficiency measures in the most disadvantaged areas in the borough, and ensure 
this approach is continued once the Energy Company Obligations programme 
commences 

 

• We will continue to improve our Council homes by replacing inefficient gas boilers 
and improving loft, and cavity insulation. In our non-traditional Council homes we 
will complete our programme of stock thermal insulation, and improve the energy 
efficiency rating of other hard to treat Council properties, ensuring all Council stock 
meets a minimum standard. 

 

• We will ensure that any new Council houses we build after 2016 have reduced 
carbon emissions 

 

Page 17



   
  

 
12 

Commitment 6: We will help people to access the support they 
need  
 

Good housing and support services for vulnerable people can assist people to live healthy, 
independent lives and reduce the pressure on families and carers.  By providing the 
appropriate accommodation, advice and support or home adaptations, we can reduce 
costs to the NHS and social care.  Housing related support provides prevention and early 
intervention to vulnerable and excluded groups to support the maintenance of 
independence and / or the move from supported or temporary accommodation to 
independence.  This Housing Strategy sits alongside Rotherham’s Supporting People 
programme whose main aim is to enable individuals to live independently within their 
home, preventing homelessness and social exclusion. 
 
It is also essential, particularly in the current economic climate, that we provide advice and 
support to all people who are facing financial difficulty to the extent that they are at risk of 
homelessness.  Central Government announced significant changes to the Housing and 
Council Tax Benefit Scheme in April 2011.  Many aspects of Welfare Reform will have a 
direct impact on housing providers and those in social and private accommodation. These 
measures have the potential to lead to increases in homelessness, evictions, child poverty 
and debt.  The Council has taken a pro-active approach to preventing people from getting 
into financial hardship and being at risk of losing their home.  The Council carries out 
statutory homeless duties but ‘prevention is better than cure’, and so primarily focuses on 
preventing homelessness.  The Council has seen positive results, however due to the 
radically changing culture and economic climate this work has to continue and is a key part 
of our Housing Strategy. 
 
How we will deliver this commitment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Support to vulnerable groups 
 

• We will deliver new housing, including specialist housing that is accessible and 
adaptable to accommodate people’s changing needs and circumstances, and we 
will continue to resource the adaptation of existing homes 

 

• We will support the most vulnerable tenants by making available or signposting 
people to services including a handypersons service to assist with minor fixings, 
fitting of telecare equipment, advice and information on safety / adaptations, support 
for hospital discharges, support to move home where appropriate, health and safety 
checks and falls prevention work 

 

• We will make sure that hospital discharge, housing, homelessness and Supporting 
People services are well-coordinated, to ensure that all individuals who need 
housing related support have equal access to services 

 

• We will improve the way we communicate with deaf people and other disabled 
groups and publicise available options for accessing services 

 

• We will continue to support projects which refurbish hard to let and empty properties 
by utilising apprenticeship programmes for vulnerable people 

 

• We will explore options for providing adequate provision to meet the housing and 
accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travelers, which we know to be nine pitches 
over the next five years 

 

Page 18



   
  

 
13 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Accountable Officers: Sandra Tolley, Housing Options Manager and Claire Smith, 
Operational Commissioner (Supporting People) 
 
 

Support to people in financial difficulty and at risk of homelessness 
 

• With partners we will develop and implement services to help sustain tenancies and 
prevent homelessness, including The Rent in Advance Scheme and paper bond 
schemes  

 

• We will encourage homeless applicants to consider the opportunities that the 
private rented sector has to offer  

 

• We will work to sustain tenancies particularly for young people aged 16-25 and work 
preventatively by providing information sessions on homelessness prevention for 
young people and those of school leaving age 

 

• We will continue to work in partnership with local agencies to ensure that vulnerable 
tenants have access to affordable services, assistance and advice including advice 
relating to homelessness prevention and Welfare Reform 

 

Page 19



   
  

 
14 

Commitment 7: We will help people in our most disadvantaged 
communities 
 
While this Housing Strategy and the Council’s service provision apply across the whole 
Borough, some areas require more targeted intervention, if we are to achieve the vision of 
the wider 30 year strategy, of a ‘smaller gap between the most and least disadvantaged 
neighbourhoods, so that all of Rotherham’s people can live in safe, healthy and vibrant 
communities’. 
  
Priority neighbourhoods have been identified using the Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
(IMD) 2010 data.  According to the IMD these are typically areas of poor housing and 
environment, low adult skills, poor educational attainment and participation, high disability 
rates, poor health, high levels of worklessness and crime hotspots.  We know that to 
create sustainable communities in Rotherham we need to focus on our priority 
communities and take collaborative action.  We have a detailed understanding of the 
nature and the scale of the challenges Rotherham faces in creating sustainable 
communities and where we need to focus our efforts in the future.  This is directly linked to 
the sixth strand of Rotherham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy that focuses on reducing 
poverty in disadvantaged areas. 
 
We recognise that not all areas require the same level of investment and intervention, and 
we may need to tailor services to suit local circumstances as an approach in one area may 
not be right for another.  With limited resources we have to look to target services and 
resources in these priority neighbourhoods to ensure the gap between these areas and the 
rest of Rotherham is significantly reduced in the future. 
 

• We know that 15% of the Borough’s population live within these priority neighbourhoods 

• There are high concentrations of vulnerable families / individuals (32%) in these areas 

• To make a difference we need to join up our physical investment with our social 
investment to improve these neighbourhoods 

 
How we will (in partnership) deliver this commitment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Accountable Officer: Paul Walsh, Housing and Communities Manager 
 
 

• We will build on our existing operational and community engagement mechanisms 
to increase community confidence in the Council’s commitment to improving 
disadvantaged areas 

• We will encourage these neighbourhoods to access resources and services they 
need to improve their own lives, and ensure visible actions are brought about as a 
result 

• We will increase community confidence by implementing a number of quick wins to 
tackle the most urgent issues, and maintaining regular communication with the 
residents 

• We will carry out an analysis and needs assessment for each priority 
neighbourhood, produce an improvement plan and encourage our Partners to 
commit to shifting the balance of mainstream resources into these areas 

 

Page 20



   
  

 
15 

Commitment 8: We will engage with communities and 
individuals so that we have a better understanding of how to 
meet their needs and aspirations 
 
RMBC has a strong track record in providing effective community engagement and 
empowerment opportunities to tenants and residents.  Key democratic channels are Area 
Assemblies, and Council tenants and leaseholders can get involved via Area Housing 
Panels and the Quality and Standards Challenge group.  The Localism Act 2011 further 
emphasises the importance of community empowerment and ownership, and we must 
continue to strengthen existing channels and find new ways of empowering residents. 
 
How we will deliver this commitment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Accountable Officer: Paul Walsh, Housing and Communities Manager 

Communicating and engaging more effectively 
 
We will work to understand our communities and who lives in them so that we can 
engage with communities and individuals in a way that suits them best.  This will help 
us to deliver services that meet people’s needs and aspirations.  We will do this by: 
 

• Being creative in the ways that we engage with people to ensure that all people, 
from all backgrounds and abilities have the opportunity to take part 

 

• Engaging with children and young people, as future householders of the borough 
 

• Working to understand how people wish to be communicated with and making sure 
all our communication is of good quality, easy to understand and available in a 
variety of formats to meet people’s needs 

 

• Providing good quality, meaningful feedback on consultations that clearly indicate 
what actions will be taken and when they can be expected   

 
Empowering people 
 

• We will support people to become an essential part of the housing decision making 
process within the Council, through consulting widely with our tenants and residents 
and acting on what we are told 

 

• We will encourage people to become good citizens by taking personal responsibility 
and having pride in their area 

 

• We will help support community groups who wish to make a difference in their area 
 

• We will provide information to communities to enable them to explore innovative 
solutions to low cost home ownership such as Community Land Trusts, housing co-
operatives and Mutual Home Ownership 

 

• We will continue to support RotherFed and strengthen partnership working with the 
Voluntary and Community sectors 

 

• We will create an effective network of influence which links tenants and residents 
groups, Area Housing Panels and our challenge group, into an effective mechanism 
for monitoring, shaping and improving our services.  

 

Page 21



   
  

 
16 

Commitment 9: We will help to improve Rotherham’s private 
rented sector 
 
Private renting has grown considerably in recent years, with approximately 3.6 million 
households (16.5%) in England now living in the private rented sector (PRS).  In 
Rotherham, approximately 8% of households rent privately, and the PRS is increasingly 
being seen as an alternative to both home ownership and to social housing.  The Coalition 
Government housing agenda is focusing on increasing the private rented sector, and the 
role of the PRS is also set to expand to assist in accommodating homeless people, as 
RMBC has agreed to adopt the option introduced by the Localism Act 2011.  It is therefore 
important that we provide support to the sector to ensure homes are well-managed and 
free from hazards. 
 
We are already ensuring that minimum standards of accommodation are achieved through 
the provision of Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) inspections, and 
referring private rented tenants to the Warm Front scheme until the scheme closes in 
December 2012.  However, despite our interventions, we know that 24.2% of vulnerable 
private sector households in Rotherham are living in non-decent housing, and that 22.8% 
of people privately renting are living in fuel poverty. 
 
How we will deliver this commitment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Accountable Officer: Paul Benson, Private Sector Housing Officer

• We will work with landlords to introduce schemes designed to improve the quality of 
the sector and use the full range of tools and enforcement powers available to us 
when these are needed to ensure improvement 

 

• We will explore options to provide loans to private sector landlords to improve the 
standard of their properties, in return for five year social housing tenancies 

 

• We will endeavour to work with private owners to repopulate the town centre and 
bring back into use empty flats above shops, and convert empty offices into homes 

 

• We will establish an overcrowding policy for the private rented sector 
 

• We will develop a Landlord Resources page on the Council web site 
 

• We will endeavour to support landlords by advising them of housing-related support 
services,  identifying resources to enable us to continue to host the Landlords’ 
Forum, publishing regular landlord newsletters and leaflets advising tenants of their 
responsibilities 

 

• We will promote and support local Rent in Advance loan and paper bond guarantee 
schemes 

 

• We will evaluate the recommendations of the Montague report (August 2012) to 
identify opportunities to increase the amount of market rent housing in Rotherham  

 

Page 22



   
  

 
17 

Commitment 10: We will help people who wish to own their 
home  
 
Nationally, home ownership has seen a steep rise over the past 60 years – from 32% in 
1952 to 66% in 2010 – fuelled by favourable economic trends and sustained by 
government policies.  The long term desire for home ownership remains strong in new 
households with 59% of private renters and 23% of social renters expecting to buy a 
property in the future.  The Government is helping social housing tenants and other first 
time buyers to own or part-own their home through the Right to Buy and shared ownership 
schemes.  However, it is becoming increasingly difficult for people to afford to buy a home 
due to high prices and difficulties in securing mortgage finance. 
 
We are already working with our partners to promote the various affordable home 
ownership products FirstBuy, NewBuy and HCA funded shared ownership.  Equally we are 
trying to help those facing financial difficulty that already own part or all of their home.  By 
doing more to help people who wish to own their own home we can: 
 

• Free up social and private rented accommodation for people who need it 

• Help people to access affordable home ownership and enjoy the benefits this can offer 

• Provide people with information and support to help them to avoid financial hardship 
and losing their home 

 
How we will deliver this commitment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Accountable Officers: Tom Bell, Strategic Housing and Investment Manager and 
Sandra Tolley, Housing Options Manager 

• We will act as enablers and use our analysis of local demand to influence housing 
association partners and private developers to deliver appropriate new affordable 
and open market home ownership schemes, and to market them effectively 

• We will help to ensure that all groups can access information about shared and 
home ownership, including disabled people and people with learning disabilities 

• We will promote affordable home ownership products to people on the housing 
register 

• We will sell at least ten plots of Council land to people who wish to build their own 
homes as this may be a more affordable option for some people than buying on the 
open market, and we will be a point of contact for custom and self builders 

 

Page 23



   
  

 
18 

Finance 
 
Further details of each of the actions in this strategy are included in the Housing Strategy 
action plan.  Some of them will be funded from within existing budgets and staff resources, 
whereas others require additional funding. 
 
Housing Revenue Account Reform has given Rotherham greater control over our housing 
budget and how we spend it.  The Council has projected the money available over the next 
30 years, mainly through rental income, and set out its investment priorities in the Housing 
Revenue Account business plan.  These priorities include: 
 

• Maintenance of housing stock 

• Local authority new housing 

• Improving the energy efficiency of housing stock 

• Remodelling housing stock to meet changing need 

• Environmental improvement works such as paving and lighting 
 
The Council is able to borrow against the future rental income and many of the larger 
projects will be funded in this way.  Priority is being awarded, in the business plan, to 
increasing investment in the Council stock for example increasing the repairs and 
maintenance budget by £1m per year, and increasing capital investments to external 
works such as roof replacement to £6m in 2012/13 and £11m in 2013/4. 
 
A number of the recent national policy changes will have an impact on the business plan, 
particularly Welfare Reform which will affect tenants’ ability to pay rent, and the new Right 
to Buy (RTB) scheme which is likely to result in more Council properties sold, and 
therefore reduced overall rental income.  There will be opportunities however to deliver 
new Council housing with the increased capital receipts, albeit Council homes lost through 
the RTB will not be replaces on a one-to-one basis. 
 
Projects that focus on the private sector, i.e. home owners and private rented 
accommodation, are generally financed through the Council’s General Fund. 
 
There are some sources of external finance we can bid for that are controlled either by the 
HCA or the Sheffield City Region Local Enterprise Partnership, such as  
 

• Getting Britain Building 

• Growing Places Fund 

• Sheffield City Region Infrastructure Fund 
 
We will identify and pursue every potential funding opportunity to help us to deliver our 
commitments, including delivery of projects identified in the Local Investment Plan. 
 
We also receive New Homes Bonus, which is an annual grant paid to local authorities 
based on the number of new homes and the number of empty properties brought back into 
use during the year, and includes an ‘affordability bonus’ for new affordable housing. 
 
Some pots of Government money are not directly accessible by the Council, but can be 
accessed by residents, community groups or landlords, and the Council in its strategic and 
enabling role will provide support, where possible, to enable people to access this, for 
example Green Deal funding. 

Page 24



   
  

 
19 

Guide to terms used in the Housing Strategy (A-Z) 
 
Affordable housing: Aimed at assisting households who are in housing need and unable to afford open 
market housing.  It can either be social rented housing (from the Council or a housing association) or 
intermediate housing (low cost home ownership).  More information can be found on the Council’s website. 
 
CERT and CESP funding: Carbon Emissions Reduction Target and Community Energy Saving Programme 
funding to improve the energy efficiency of housing.  More information can be found at www.decc.gov.uk. 
 
Community Land Trust: Non-profit, community-based organisations run by volunteers that develop 
housing, workspaces, community facilities or other assets that meet the needs of the community, are owned 
and controlled by the community and are made available at permanently affordable levels. 
 
Comprehensive Spending Review: The HM Treasury led process that allocates public expenditure, the 
current CSR fixes spending budgets for each Government department up to 2014/15. 
 
Custom Build: The government has announced a funding pot to assist Developers, housing associations 
and community groups to bring forward "Custom Build" housing schemes, whereby individuals or groups will 
commission or build their own homes either as part of a larger site or on small areas of land. 
 
Decent Homes Standard: Housing standard designed to measure the condition of public sector stock, 
achieved for RMBC’s housing by December 2010. 
 
Energy Company Obligations (ECO): This funding is raised by energy companies from their customers’ 
fuel bills and is spent on carbon reduction measures.  ECO will subsidise the green deal by tackling fuel 
poverty and hard-to-treat properties, where the works would cost more than the savings made. 
 
FirstBuy: A new Government-sponsored shared equity scheme to help first time buyers onto the property 
ladder – for more information see http://www.firstbuyscheme.org.uk 
 
Fuel poverty: Defined by the Government as a household that needs to spend more than 10% of household 
income to heat their home 
 
Get Britain Building: Funding programme set up by the HCA in November 2011, which aims to ‘unlock’ 
delayed development sites to restart construction activity and deliver thousands of new homes. 
 
Green Deal: Government initiative that is designed to encourage business and home owners to employ 
more green technologies in their properties. Costs are repaid through energy bills over a period of time. 
 

Homes and Communities Agency (HCA): Joins up the delivery of housing and regeneration under one 

roof, bringing together the functions of English Partnerships, the investment functions of the Housing 

Corporation, the Academy for Sustainable Communities, and key housing and regeneration programmes 

previously delivered by Communities and Local Government, including the Thames Gateway, Housing Market 

Renewal, Decent Homes.  See www.homesandcommunities.co.uk 
 
Houses in multiple occupation (HMO): Dwellings with more than one household living in them. 
 

Housing Market Renewal Programme: A programme (now ended) to rebuild housing markets and 

communities in parts of the North and the Midlands where demand for housing is relatively weak and which 

have seen a significant decline in population, dereliction, poor services and poor social conditions as a result. 
 
Housing Revenue Account reform: Change to the housing finance system which was formerly based on a 
complex subsidy system controlled by central Government.  Councils are now able to keep their rental 
income, service their own debt and control housing finance. 
 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA): The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) establishes 
the current and future health and social care needs of a population, leading to improved outcomes and 
reductions in health inequalities. The JSNA informs the priorities and targets set by Local Area Agreements, 
leading to agreed commissioning priorities that will improve outcomes and reduce health inequalities 
throughout the Borough. 

 

Page 25



   
  

 
20 

Local Development Framework (LDF): A portfolio of documents comprising local development and 
planning documents, the statement of community involvement, a local development scheme and an annual 
monitoring report.  This is now known as the Local plan. 
 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP): A partnership between local authorities and businesses to help 
determine local economic priorities and lead economic growth and job creation within the local area. 
 
Local Investment Plan (LIP): Key document produced in collaboration with the Homes and Communities 
Agency in September 2010, that sets out Rotherham’s investment priorities for housing and regeneration 
 
Localism: Localism Act 2011 covers four main areas - new freedoms and flexibilities for local government, 
new rights and powers for communities and individuals, reform to make the planning system more 
democratic and more effective and reform to ensure that decisions about housing are taken locally. 
 
Local Strategic Partnership: Multi-agency body of local service providers, the private sector and the 
broader local community with the objective of agreeing a holistic approach to solving problems with a 
common vision, agreed objectives and pooled expertise. 
 
Micro generation: The small-scale generation of heat and electricity by individuals, small businesses and 
communities to meet their own needs, the term is mainly used for environmentally conscious approaches 
that aspire to zero or low carbon footprints 
 
Montague Report: Report published in August 2012 on the review of barriers to institutional investment in 
private rented housing, which sets out a series of recommendations for local authorities to consider. 
 
Mutual Home Ownership (MHO): Form of tenure that seeks to increase the number of affordable 
intermediate market housing.  In MHO, residents pay for the build costs but not for the land, which is owned 
by a Community Land Trust.  The homes remain affordable in perpetuity. 
 
NewBuy: New scheme designed to help people overcome the deposit gap for new buyers – for more 
information see http://www.newbuy.org.uk 
 
New Homes Bonus: An incentive scheme to encourage house building by offering the local authority extra 
money for every newly built home and empty properties brought back into use. 
  
Paper bond guarantee schemes: This is where a private landlord agrees to a ‘paper bond’ rather than a 
deposit. 
 
Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS): Regional level planning frameworks introduced in 2004 and revoked in 
July 2010. 
 
Rent in Advance loan: The Rent in Advance Scheme is where loans are offered to potentially homeless 
people to assist in accessing accommodation in the private rented sector.  More information can be found on 
the Council’s website. 
 
Right to Buy (RTB): Government scheme to enable Council tenants to purchase their home at a discount. 
 
RotherFed: Organisation bringing together Rotherham’s tenants and residents www.rotherfed.org.uk 
 
Rotherham housing intelligence report: Report that sets out key facts about housing in Rotherham such 
as housing needs survey results, market values, housing needs in different areas etc.  Available on the 
Council’s website from November 2012. 
 
Rotherham Partnership: See Local Strategic Partnership 
 
Rural Exception Policy: Planning policy which will allow more new homes to be built for local people in 
villages with a population of less than 3000 people. 
 
Section 106 planning gain: Through negotiation, a planning condition can be imposed whereby a 
proportion of new homes must be made available for affordable housing. 
 
Secured by Design: Housing design standard based on a crime-prevention initiative which supports the 
principles of ‘designing out crime’  

Page 26



   
  

 
21 

 
Shared ownership: Affordable home ownership option where people own part of the property and pay rent 
on the other part to a housing association or developer. 
 
Sheffield City Region (Local Enterprise Partnership): Collaboration between businesses and the local 
authorities of the Sheffield City Region, which are Barnsley, Bassetlaw, Bolsover, Chesterfield, Derbyshire 
Dales, Doncaster, North East Derbyshire, Rotherham and Sheffield.  Its objective is to help determine local 
economic priorities and lead economic growth within the area.  See www.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 
 
Sheffield City Region Infrastructure Fund: Recyclable fund which enables the City Region to make 
strategic infrastructure investments to create jobs and economic growth, and utilises the new funding 
flexibilities available to local areas. 
 
Under-occupation: When people are living in homes that are larger than then need for the number of 
people in the household. 
 
Universal Credit: See Welfare Reform 
 
Warm Front scheme: Government grants for insulation, scheme comes to an end in December 2012. 

 
Welfare Reform: Major changes to the way welfare benefits are provided, including Universal Credit which 
combines all benefits, including housing benefit / local housing allowance, into a single payment. 

 

Linked Rotherham documents 
 

• Housing Strategy action plan 

• Annual Housing Intelligence Report 

• HRA 30 year Business Plan 

• Homelessness Strategy 

• Revised Allocations Policy  

• Strategic Tenancy Policy  

• Empty Properties Policy 

• Housing Assistance Policy 

• Community Strategy 

• Corporate Plan 

• Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

• Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

• Warmer Homes Strategy 

• Supporting People strategy 

• Child Poverty Strategy 

• Local Plan / Core Strategy (2009–2026) 

• Local Investment Plan 

 
Contact information 
 
Strategic housing and Investment Service 
Strategichousing@rotherham.gov.uk / 01709 334970 
 
If you require this document in a different format please call the number above to discuss 
your requirements. 
 
The Housing Strategy was formally launched in December 2012. 

Page 27



 
 

1. Meeting: Cabinet   

2. Date:  21 November 2012   

3. Title: Rotherham’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  

4. Directorate: Resources  

 
 
 
5. Summary 
 
This report presents the Rotherham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for approval 
by Cabinet.  
 
  
 
 
6. Recommendations 
 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

• Approves the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  
 

• Submits the Strategy for approval by Full Council  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL - REPORT TO MEMBERS 

Agenda Item 7Page 28



 
7. Background  
 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies (JHWS) take the important step from 
assessing local needs and assets, which have been published in the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA), to collectively addressing the underlying determinants of 
health and wellbeing.   
 
In the context of the Health and Social Care Act, Health and Wellbeing Boards 
(HWBBs) will be responsible for ensuring a number of key pieces of work are 
undertaken and monitored, including gathering data through the JSNA, developing a 
local strategy and commissioning plans.  The strategy presented here is the 
Rotherham HWBBs response to this requirement.  
 
 
8. Proposals and Details 
 
The JHWS for Rotherham is the high-level plan for the HWBB and sets out the key 
priorities that the Board will deliver over the next three years to improve the health 
and wellbeing of Rotherham people.  It presents a shared commitment to reduce 
health inequalities locally between the Council, Public Health and NHS, and will be 
used to guide all agencies in Rotherham in developing commissioning priorities and 
plans. 
 
Based on engagement with a wide range of stakeholders and consultation with the 
voluntary and community sector and the public, the HWBB agreed a set of six 
strategic priorities. Each priority has an associated outcome, which presents a 
desired state for Rotherham in 3 years. The six priorities are:  
 
1. Prevention and early intervention 
2. Expectations and aspirations 
3. Dependence to independence  
4. Healthy Lifestyles 
5. Long-term conditions 
6. Poverty  
 
A life stage framework has been used to group together the ‘Big Issues’ which have 
come out of the JSNA and through public consultation.   The life stages will also be 
used to develop the Performance Management Framework, these are: 

• Starting well (age 0-3) 

• Developing well (age 4-24) 

• Working and living well (age 25-54) 

• Ageing and dying well (age 65+) 
 
The strategy demonstrates how the life stages map across the six strategic priorities, 
which is presented in a matrix showing the lead and supporting agency for each area 
(page 8).   
 
The implementation phase of the strategy is now underway, with a Strategy Steering 
Group in place to coordinate and provide strategic overview to the delivery plan. 
Each of the six strategy priorities has been allocated a lead officer, which are a 
combination of Council, public health and NHS.  The Steering Group is made up of 

Page 29



these six leads, plus supporting officers from the council and public health, and 
chaired by the council’s strategic health and wellbeing lead and representative from 
the Clinical Commissioning Group.  The Steering Group will be accountable to and 
support the work of the HWBB.   
 
Cabinet are asked to formally note and approve the Strategy and delivery plan.  
Cabinet are also asked to consider submitting the Strategy to Full Council for 
approval and to raise awareness of the work taking place.  
 
 
8. Finance 
 
There are no financial implications directly related to the contents of this report.  
 
 
10. Risks and Uncertainties 
 
Having a jointly agreed strategy in place is essential to guide the work of the HWBB 
and ensure the key priorities are delivered on.   
 
Raising awareness and seeking approval of the strategy across the Council and 
partner agencies will also be crucial to ensure the priorities become embedded in 
everything we do in Rotherham.   
 
 
11. Policy and Performance Agenda Implications 
 
The details in this report directly relate to the local Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 
which will be a requirement of the HWBB to publish from April 2013, although earlier 
implementation will ensure we are appropriately placed to tackle health issues 
locally.  
 
 
9. Background Papers and Consultation 
 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012-15 (attached)   
 
 
 
10 Contact  
 
Kate Green 
Policy Officer  
Commissioning, Policy and Performance  
Kate.green@rotherham.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 

Page 30



Rotherham Borough

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy

2012 – 2015

Page 31



Rotherham Borough  |  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012 – 2015 2

Introduction 
The Rotherham Health and Wellbeing Strategy sets out the key priorities that the local Health and Wellbeing 

Board will adopt over the next three years to improve the health and wellbeing of Rotherham people.

The document brings together the things that impact on people’s health and wellbeing into a single, high-level framework. 

The strategy will be used to guide all agencies in Rotherham in developing commissioning priorities and plans in tackling 

the major public health and wellbeing challenges facing our communities. The document presents a shared commitment 

to ensure all Rotherham individuals and families are able to make positive choices to improve their physical, mental 

health and wellbeing, as well as helping to build strong communities. The strategy should also ensure that public services 

do everything we can to address the root causes of ill-health. 

This strategy will sit within a set of documents which demonstrate the journey from gathering data, to understanding 

whether we are achieving our goals, these include: 

! Joint Strategic Needs Assessment: our intelligence

! Health and Wellbeing Strategy: our vision and how we will achieve this 

! Commissioning plans: funding and leadership 

! Performance management framework: evaluating success.

Integrating Health and Social Care
!"#$#%&$#%'()*'+,%(#-#./,%0$'1%($*-2*-2%/'2#/"#$%34&--*-25%0+-6*-25%&-6%6#4*)#$7%'0%"#&4/"%&-6%,'8*&4%8&$#9%!"*,%*,%

demonstrated through the publication of three frameworks of outcomes for the NHS, public health and adult social care. 

The diagram below shows how these frameworks overlap and how the joint priorities of the Health and Well Being Board 

presented in this strategy, sit within the centre of it.

The Health and Wellbeing Board brings together the strategic 

!"#$"#%#&'()$"(*++(%,"&&(*"&*'(%$("&-&.%(%,&(/&&0'($)(%,&(1$#/%(

Strategic Needs Assessment

Social
care

NHS

Public
Health

Page 32



Rotherham Borough  |  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012 – 2015 3

 

Why we need a strategy
 
Health Inequalities 
Deprivation in Rotherham is higher than average and worsening. According to the Index of Multiple Deprivation 

in 2007, Rotherham ranked 68th most deprived district in England. 

In 2010 we had moved to 53rd. Rotherham still ranks amongst the top 20% most deprived districts nationally. The biggest 

causes of deprivation in Rotherham remain Education and Skills, Health and Disability and Employment. Life expectancy 

is lower the England average, but there is also a large gap between the least and most deprived areas in the borough; 9.9 

years for men and 5.9 for women. Health inequalities in Rotherham are generally worse than the England average and 

our statistical neighbours.

"#$%&'()*+(,-./*0&$1-(*23445*6+7

The Marmot Review of Health Inequalities ‘Fair Society, Healthy Lives’ provides evidence that there is a bigger 

impact on the health for those living in deprivation. The review suggests that there needs to be a focus across different 

backgrounds as well as across the life course, with appropriate levels of help given to people from different backgrounds 

to reduce inequalities. It also presents the positive impact of employment for the health and wellbeing of working age 

people, particularly for an individual’s mental health and wellbeing.  

Life Course Framework

The Health and Wellbeing Board have agreed a life course framework, which has been adapted from the Marmot life 

course. The dying well agenda is aligned to ageing well, however we recognise that end of life choices span the life 

course. The diagram below shows how the life course for this strategy links to the key point in people’s lives:

 

23"(1$#/%(4%"*%&5#.(6&&0'(7''&''8&/%
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) takes a comprehensive look at the health and social care needs  

of Rotherham. We refreshed and published our JSNA at the end of 2011, using factual information and evidence to 

identify needs. 

Our JSNA has told us that the main determinants of health inequalities include deprivation and worklessness, attainment 

and skills, low birth-weight, infant mortality and mental health, as well as lifestyle factors such as poor diet, obesity, 

smoking and alcohol use, teenage pregnancy and low levels of physical activity. It also highlighted the ongoing concerns 

relating to the increased demands due to the ageing population, diversity and caring responsibilities and this poses 

challenges for service delivery. 

Prenatal RetirementEmploymentSchoolPre-school

Starting Well 

0-3 years

Developing Well 

4-19 yrs 

Living & Working Well 

20-64 yrs

Ageing and Dying Well 

65 yrs +

Family building

Page 33



Rotherham Borough  |  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012 – 2015 4

Health Inequalities Consultation
To ensure that we fully understand the needs and demands of our local population, we have undertaken a comprehensive 

8'-,+4/&/*'-%'-%"#&4/"%*-#:+&4*/*#,%;*/"%4'8&4%3#'34#9%!"*,%*6#-/*.#6%.)#%/"#1#,<%*-8$#&,#6%8',/%'0%4*)*-25%:+&4*/7%

health services, having the skills for life, Rotherham communities’ assets and the look and feel of Rotherham, with an 

overarching theme of the raising aspirations of Rotherham people and communities. 

The most common issues raised included: 

!* 8,9:-:(#*;(-.*'/,--(<=(#*:<*./(:&*>,:-?*-:@(#*-(>*.$*>:;1'%-.:(#*:<*A&:$&:.:#,.:$<*,<>*,*-,'B*$;*-$<=C.(&9*A-,<<:<=D

!*Many felt trapped in a cycle of poverty with little prospect of escape.

!* People felt that young people had poor skills for life and work.

!* E*F(-;,&(*'%-.%&(*$;*>(A(<>(<'?*/,>*G('$9(*./(*<$&9*;$&*#$9(*A($A-(5*F/:'/*F,#*,-#$*&(H('.(>*:<*&:#:<=*'$<'(&<#*

,G$%.*F(-;,&(*&(;$&9*,<>*(IA('.(>*&(>%'.:$<#*:<*G(<(1.D

!* Low aspirations and expectations were evident across all age groups.

!* J/(&(*F,#*-:..-(*'$99$<*:>(<.:.?*:<*K$./(&/,95*9,:<-?*:<*./(*$%.(&*,&(,#*$;*./(*L$&$%=/D

!* L-,'B*,<>*M:<$&:.?*N./<:'*A($A-(*#.:--*;,'(>*>:#'&:9:<,.:$<*,<>*<(=,.:@(*A(&'(A.:$<#*;&$9*#(&@:'(#D

!*Older people often felt isolated and unsafe but also offered untapped potential to help others 

!* 0($A-(*:>(<.:1(>*./(*#B:--#*./(?*/,>*.$*$;;(&5*G%.*;$%<>*./(*$AA$&.%<:.?*.$*%#(*./(9*>:;1'%-.?*.$*1<>D

!* 0($A-(*F,<.*'-(,&5*>:&('.*,<>*#:9A-(*9(##,=(#*$<*/(,-./*.$*(<'$%&,=(*A($A-(*.$*9,B(*'/,<=(#D

What we want to achieve
Our Vision:
To improve health and reduce health inequalities across the whole of Rotherham.

Our ‘Strategic Outcomes’
The Health and Wellbeing Board have agreed six areas of priority and associated outcomes for the strategy, which 

represent a desired state for what we want Rotherham to look like in three years: 

 Priority 1 - Prevention and early intervention 

 Outcome: Rotherham people will get help early to stay healthy and increase their independence.

 Priority 2 - Expectations and aspirations 

  Outcome: All Rotherham people will have high aspirations for their health and wellbeing and expect good quality 

services in their community, tailored to their personal circumstances.

 

 Priority 3 - Dependence to independence

  Outcome: Rotherham people and families will increasingly identify their own needs and choose solutions that are 

best suited to their personal circumstances

Page 34



Rotherham Borough  |  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012 – 2015 5

 Priority 4 - Healthy lifestyles

 Outcome: People in Rotherham will be aware of health risks and be able to take up opportunities to adopt  

 healthy lifestyles.

 Priority 5 - Long-term conditions

 Outcome: Rotherham people will be able to manage long-term conditions so that they are able to enjoy the  

 best quality of life. 

 Priority 6 - Poverty

 Outcome: Reduce poverty in disadvantaged areas through policies that enable people to fully participate in  

 everyday social activities and the creation of more opportunities to gain skills and employment.

What we will do - tackle the ‘Big Issues’ 
9,&(:&*+%,(*/0(;&++<&#/5(=$*"0(>#++(!"#$"#%#'&(*/0(%*.?+&(%,&(@<#5(#''3&'A(,#5,+#5,%&0(<B(%,&(1467(*/0(,&*+%,(

inequalities consultation, these are:

!* O$F*,..,:<9(<.5*#B:--#*,<>*,#A:&,.:$<#

!* Low levels of physical activity

!* +:=/*-(@(-#*$;*-:;(#.?-(*&:#B#*P*,-'$/$-5*#9$B:<=5*#%G#.,<'(*9:#%#(5*$G(#:.?

!* High rates of teenage pregnancy 

!* +:=/*&,.(#*$;*(9$.:$<,-5*G(/,@:$%&,-*$&*,..(<.:$<*>(1':.*>:#$&>(&#

!* High emergency admissions

!*Meeting the needs of increasingly diverse minority ethnic and migrant communities

!* High levels of oral disease

!* Q<'&(,#(*:<*,=(*&(-,.(>*'$<>:.:$<#*#%'/*,#R*>(9(<.:,5*9$G:-:.?*S*/(,&:<=*:9A,:&9(<.5*

>:,G(.(#5*;,--#*

!* High levels of depression 

!* Low levels of physical activity

!* K:#:<=*<%9G(&*$;*$->(&*S*>:#,G-(>*A($A-(*-:@:<=*,-$<(*S*;((-:<=*:#$-,.(>*

!* Ageing carers and growing care gap

!* High pensioner poverty 

!* Rising fuel poverty

!* High demand for acute care

!* +:=/*-(@(-#*$;*-:;(#.?-(*&:#B#*P*#9$B:<=5*,-'$/$-5*>:(.5*$G(#:.?

!* L:=*=,A*:<*./(*-:;(*(IA('.,<'?*:<*-(,#.*,<>*9$#.*>(A&:@(>*,&(,#*:<*K$./(&/,9

!* +:=/*-(@(-#*$;*-:;(#.?-(*&:#B#*P*#9$B:<=5*,-'$/$-5*>:(.5*$G(#:.?*

!* +:=/*-(@(-#*$;*F$&B-(##<(##*,<>*G(<(1.*'%-.%&(

!* Low levels of physical activity

!* O$F*T%,-:1',.:$<*,<>*#B:--*-(@(-#

!* High levels of depression and anxiety

!* High deprivation 

!* Rising fuel poverty

!* High rates of disability

!* Increasing need for carer support 

!*Meeting the needs of increasingly diverse minority ethnic and migrant communities

!* O$F*G:&./F(:=/.*S*/:=/*:<;,<.*9$&.,-:.?

!* High smoking rates in pregnancy

!* Low breastfeeding rates

!* High teenage conceptions

!* High obesity rates

!* High levels of oral disease

Starting

Well

Developing

Well 

Living and

Working Well

Ageing and 

Dying Well

Page 35



Rotherham Borough  |  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012 – 2015 6

How we will do it
To achieve an improvement in health and wellbeing across Rotherham, the Health and Wellbeing Board have 

agreed a set of actions to reduce health inequalities.  

         Prevention and Early Intervention 
 
=% >#%;*44%8''$6*-&/#%&%34&--#6%,"*0/%'0%$#,'+$8#,%0$'1%"*2"%6#3#-6#-87%,#$)*8#,%/'%#&$47%*-/#$)#-/*'-%&-6%3$#)#-/*'-9

=% >#%;*44%0'8+,%'-%1'/*)&/*-2%3#'34#%/'%8"&-2#%(#"&)*'+$,%&-6%6#,*2-%'+$%8&13&*2-,%&$'+-6%3$#)#-/*'-%&-6% 

early intervention.

=% ?#$)*8#%;*44%(#%6#4*)#$#6%*-%/"#%$*2"/%34&8#%&/%/"#%$*2"/%/*1#%(7%/"#%$*2"/%3#'34#

=% >#%;*44%6#)#4'3%&%@'*-/%&33$'&8"%/'%1&A*1*,#%/"#%+,#%'0%&,,*,/*)#%/#8"-'4'27%/'%(#-#./%3#'34#9%

=% >#%;*44%6#)#4'3%&%8'11'-%&33$'&8"%/'%*6#-/*07*-2%&-6%&66$#,,*-2%$*,B,%&8$',,%&44%,#$)*8#,%&-6%'$2&-*,&/*'-,9%%

         Expectations and Aspirations 
 

=% >#%;*44%3$')*6#%1+8"%84#&$#$%*-0'$1&/*'-%&('+/%/"#%,/&-6&$6,%3#'34#%,"'+46%#A3#8/%&-6%6#1&-69

=% >#%;*44%/$&*-%&44%3#'34#%;"'%;'$B%/';&$6,%$#6+8*-2%"#&4/"%*-#:+&4*/*#,%/'%$#,3'-6%/'%/"#%8*$8+1,/&-8#,%'0% 

individual people, families and the local community.

=% >#%;*44%#-,+$#%&44%'+$%;'$B0'$8#%$'+/*-#47%3$'13/5%"#43%&-6%,*2-3',/%3#'34#%/'%B#7%,#$)*8#,%&-6%3$'2$&11#,9

=% >#%;*44%8'C3$'6+8#%;*/"%D'/"#$"&1%3#'34#%/"#%;&7%,#$)*8#,%&$#%6#4*)#$#6%/'%8'11+-*/*#,%0&8*-2% 

challenging conditions.  

         Dependence to Independence 
  
=% >#%;*44%8"&-2#%/"#%8+4/+$#%'0%,/&00%0$'1%,*1347%E6'*-2F%/"*-2,%0'$%3#'34#%/'%#-8'+$&2*-2%&-6%3$'4'-2*-2%*-6#3#-6#-8#%

and self care.

=% >#%;*44%,##B%'+/%/"#%8'11+-*/7%8"&13*'-,%&-6%,+33'$/%/"#1%;*/"%&33$'3$*&/#%$#,'+$8#,5%/'%/&B#%&8/*'-%&-6% 

organise activities. 

=% >#%;*44%,+33'$/%&-6%#-&(4#%3#'34#%/'%,/#3%+3%&-6%,/#3%6';-%/"$'+2"%&%$&-2#%'0%,/&/+/'$75%)'4+-/&$7%&-6%8'11+-*/7%

services, appropriate to their needs.

=% >#%;*44%3$'3#$47%#-&(4#%3#'34#%/'%(#8'1#%*-6#3#-6#-/%&-6%8#4#($&/#%*-6#3#-6#-8#9%

 

Page 36



Rotherham Borough  |  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012 – 2015 7

         Healthy Lifestyles
 

=% >#%;*44%;'$B%/'2#/"#$%/'%+-6#$,/&-6%'+$%8'11+-*/7%&,,#/,G%*6#-/*07*-2%;"&/%&-6%;"#$#%/"#7%&$#%&8$',,%/"#%('$'+2"%

and how we use them effectively.  

=% >#%;*44%+,#%/"#%"#&4/"%&-6%;#44(#*-2%,/$&/#27%/'%*-H+#-8#%4'8&4%34&--*-2%&-6%/$&-,3'$/%,#$)*8#,%/'%"#43%+,%3$'1'/#%

healthy lifestyles.

=% >#%;*44%3$'1'/#%&8/*)#%4#*,+$#%&-6%#-,+$#%/"',#%;"'%;*,"%/'%&$#%&(4#%/'%&88#,,%&00'$6&(4#5%&88#,,*(4#%4#*,+$#%8#-/$#,%

and activities. 

         Long-term Conditions 
 

=% >#%;*44%&6'3/%&%8''$6*-&/#6%&33$'&8"%/'%"#43%3#'34#%1&-&2#%/"#*$%8'-6*/*'-,9

=% >#%;*44%6#)#4'3%&%8'11'-%&33$'&8"%/'%6&/&%,"&$*-2%,'%;#%8&-%3$')*6#%(#//#$%,+33'$/%&8$',,%&2#-8*#,%&-6%3+/%*-%

place a long-term plan for the life of the individual.

=% >#%;*44%#-,+$#%&44%&2#-8*#,%;'$B%/'2#/"#$%/'%1&B#%/$&-,*/*'-,%(#/;##-%,#$)*8#,%0'$%/"',#%;*/"%4'-2%/#$1%8'-6*/*'-,%

seamless and smooth.

=% >#%;*44%;'$B%@'*-/47%/'%$#)*#;%'+$%#4*2*(*4*/7%8$*/#$*&%/"$#,"'46,%&-6%#-,+$#%;#%&$#%&(4#%/'%#,8&4&/#%&-6%6#C#,8&4&/#%

people through services as their needs change.

 

         Poverty

=% >#%;*44%1&B#%&-%')#$&$8"*-2%8'11*/1#-/%/'%$#6+8*-2%"#&4/"%*-#:+&4*/*#,5%3&$/*8+4&$47%*-%&$#&,%,+00#$*-2%0$'1% 

a concentration of disadvantage.

We will ask the Rotherham Partnership:

=% !'%4''B%&/%-#;%;&7,%'0%&,,*,/*-2%/"',#%6*,#-2&2#6%0$'1%/"#%4&('+$%1&$B#/%/'%*13$')#%/"#*$%,B*44,%&-6%$#&6*-#,,% 

for work.  

=% !'%#-,+$#%/"&/%,/$&/#2*#,%/'%/&8B4#%3')#$/7%6'-F/%@+,/%0'8+,%'-%/"#%1',/%6*,&6)&-/&2#65%(+/%/"#$#%*,%&8/*'-%&8$',,% 

the borough to avoid poverty worsening.

=% !'%8'-,*6#$%"';%;#%8&-%&8/*)#47%;'$B%;*/"%#)#$7%"'+,#"'46%*-%6#3$*)#6%&$#&,%/'%1&A*1*,#%(#-#./%/&B#C+3%'0% 

every person.

Page 37



Rotherham Borough  |  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012 – 2015 8

Linking the life stages with our strategic outcomes

Bringing about improvement in health and wellbeing is incredibly challenging and we see the need to drive actions 

0'$;&$69%>#%"&)#%/"#$#0'$#%*6#-/*.#6%&%4#&6%3$'0#,,*'-&4%;"'%;*44%(#%&88'+-/&(4#%0'$%#&8"%'+/8'1#%&-6%4*0#%,/&2#9%% 

The table shows the lead professional for each outcome and life stage, but also which agencies will provide the main 

supporting and advising role for each area. Along with the main statutory organisations, there will be a range or voluntary, 

community sector and private organisations that we will need to work with to help us achieve our vision.

Having agreed Accountable lead professionals will ensure a coordinated approach across all the life stages. This will help 

+,%/'%;'$B%/';&$6,%($#&B*-2%/"#%E8784#F%'0%3''$%"#&4/"9%>#%,##%/"&/%;#%8&--'/%,*1347%,"*0/%'+$%$#,'+$8#,%/'%E?/&$/*-2%>#44F%

to prevent poor health, but we need to address the determinants of health at each life stage to ensure young people do 

not become unhealthy adults and adults do not become unhealthy older people. 

What Next? 
In order to meet the strategic objectives and outcomes we will require a picture of assets and services that we have 

available across Rotherham. Continuing to develop this will ensure it provides a clear and comprehensive picture of how 

services in Rotherham are delivered to meet need, based on the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.  

Delivering the Strategy
?*A%,/$&/#2*8%4#&6%'0.8#$,%0$'1%/"#%I'8&4%J+/"'$*/7%&-6%KL?%;*44%(#%$#,3'-,*(4#%0'$%/"#%6#4*)#$7%'0%#&8"%'0%/"#%,/$&/#27F,%

priorities. Their role will be to provide leadership and accountability for each priority workstream, ensuring a workplan is in 

place to deliver the actions within the life of the strategy. The table on page 8 will be a tool used by the strategic leads to 

develop their plans, ensuring the right people and agencies are involved.

AS = Adult Services CYPH = Children and Young People Services

PH = Public Health CCG = Clinical Commissioning Group

AS  Adult S vi CYPH  Child d Yo Pe le S vi

 

Starting

Well

Developing

Well 

Living and

Working Well

Ageing and 

Dying  Well

Prevention & Early 

Intervention

Led by Public Health

Supported by CCG, 

CYPS

Led by CYPS

Supported by CCG 

& PH

Led by Public Health

Supported by CCG 

& AS

Advised by CYPS

Led by AS

Supported by CCG 

& PH

Poverty 

Advised by All

Advised by All

Advised by All

Advised by All

Long-term 

Conditions

Led by CYPS

Supported by CCG

Advised by PH

Led by CYPS

Supported by CCG

Advised by PH

Led by CCG

Supported by AS

Advised by PH

Led by AS

Supported by CCG

Advised by PH

Healthy Lifestyles 

Independence 

Led by PH

Supported by CCG 

& CYPS

Led by PH

Supported by CCG 

&  CYPS

Led by PH

Supported by CCG 

& AS

Led by PH

Supported by CCG 

& AS

Dependence to 

Independence 

Led by CYPS

Supported by CCG

Led by CYPS

Supported by CCG

Led by AS

Supported by CCG

Lead by AS

Supported by CCG     

Expectations & 

Aspirations

Led by CYPS

Supported by CCG

Advised by PH

Led by CYPS

Supported by CCG

Advised by PH

Led by AS

Supported by CCG

Advised by PH

Led by AS

Supported by CCG

Advised by PH    

Page 38



Rotherham Borough  |  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012 – 2015 9

Commissioning Plans 
We will use this strategy to inform commissioning plans for all health and wellbeing partner agencies; including public 

health, NHS and social care. Commissioning plans will identify who will do the work to help us achieve our goals.  

Performance Management Framework 
In order to understand whether we have been successful, we will develop a performance management framework 

using the life stage and strategic outcomes matrix. This will include key indicators from each of the national outcomes 

frameworks, along with any local measures, which will demonstrate whether we are achieving improvements for each of 

the big issues, and ultimately our strategic outcomes. 

Future Joint Strategic Needs Assessments and the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016 will also demonstrate whether this 

strategy has had an impact on deprivation and health inequalities, in line with the national average. 

Reviewing the Strategy 
The strategy presented here is a three year plan and we will formally review it annually. Over the course of the three 

years we will continue to build up a much clearer picture of the needs of our population; through our Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment, as well as how we commission services. We will also use local people and future developments such as 

Healthwatch, to help us understand our population’s needs and how services are actually delivered. This annual review 

process will help us recognise how well we are doing and show if we are off track and allow us to change direction  

as needed.  

Rotherham people will remain at the centre of the strategy and a continued consultation plan will ensure that the strategy 

remains focused on listening to the views and improving the health of all Rotherham people.

www.rotherham.nhs.uk
NHS Rotherham is the Rotherham Primary Care Trust

© Creative Media Services NHS Rotherham    
Date of publication: 23.10.2012   Ref: HIEG3752_1213NHSR

Page 39



Page 1  
 

 

 

1.  Meeting: Cabinet  

2.  Date: 21st  November 2012 

3.  Title: Library and Information Service Review 
Consultation Feedback Report.  

4.  Directorate: Environment and Development Services 

 
 
5. Summary 
 
Cabinet (23rd Nov 2011) requested a review of the Library and Information 
Service to  deliver a modern, vibrant library service based on the Library 
and Information Service Strategy 2011-15. The review would also identify 
proposals to deliver a “comprehensive and efficient library service for all 
persons desiring to make use thereof”, Public Libraries & Museums Act, 
1964 (the Act).  Subsequently at Cabinet (20th June 2012), approval was 
given to a draft service model for public consultation.   
The consultation is now complete and a revised service model has been 
developed to take account of the following factors: 
 

• The responses to  the consultation 
• Council policy in terms of areas of deprivation. 

• Assessment of local need for the service 

• Review of current performance of libraries 

• Options for further closer working with Customer Services 

• Localities review 

• Library and Information Service Strategy 2011-15 

• The statutory nature of the service.  
 

The proposal would release savings to the Council of approximately 
£500,000. 

 
6. Recommendations 
 

1. Cabinet approves the new service model for the Library and 
Information Service. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Agenda Item 8Page 40



Page 2  
 

7. Proposals and Details 
 
Background 
 
The Council has a statutory duty in accordance with section 7 of the Act to 
provide a comprehensive and efficient library service to residents and those 
who work or are in full-time education in the Borough.  
 
Rotherham MBC strategy since 2007 has been to deliver significant capital 
investment in library buildings through an ambitious programme of 
construction, modernisation, replacement and refurbishment. As part of this, 
new facilities redesigned with customers in mind opened at Thorpe Hesley 
in 2007, Wickersley in 2008, Mowbray Gardens in 2009, Aston in 2010 and 
Riverside House and Rawmarsh in 2012. 
 
Libraries have been redesigned with customers in mind with convenient 
self-service, new computers and furniture, places to relax and socialise, 
local access to wider council services, community involvement in the 
running of libraries and a lively programme of events and activities. 
 
The full review of the service looks to build on this transformation and this 
paper outlines the proposals and the way forward following the consultation. 
 
Prior to consultation we: 
 

• Listened to customers, prior to the publication of the Library Strategy 
2011 

• Took the approach of looking across the service rather than 
concentrate on one particular area. 

• Assessed the service’s contribution to the corporate outcomes and 
priorities 

• Took account of key national, regional and local strategies 

• Took account of the experiences of other local authorities 

• Considered options presented by the review of customer services  

• Carried out an assessment of local need for the service 

• Examined usage, performance and demand for the service 

• Reviewed available resources, including staff, buildings and stock 

• Completed an equalities analysis of the proposed service model  

• Published initial proposals for consultation  
 
Consultation 
On the 20th June 2012 Cabinet approved our consultation plan and agreed 
that the original proposal for the service could go out to consultation during 
the summer of 2012. 
 
The original proposal that went out to consultation can be summarised as 
follows: 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



Page 3  
 

Summary of original proposal 
 

Library Current 
Hours 

Visits 
per yr 

Active 
borrowers 

Original option for 
consultation 

Riverside 52.5 346335 11499 Increase hours to 55 per week. 
“Flagship” provision for borough 

Aston 44.5 53155 3158 Increase hours to 49 per week. 
“Hub” site for south of borough. 

Link to customer services 

Brinsworth 26.5 10473 670 Reduce opening hrs to 26 per 
week. Explore potential for new 
build/community management 

model with Parish Council 

Dinnington 49.5 72843 3709 Reduce opening hours to 49 per 
week. “Hub” site for south of 

borough. Link to customer services 

Greasbrough 40 30678 1285 Reduce opening hours to 32 per 
week. Relocate district office and 
offer access to additional Council 

services  

Kimberworth 16.5 9942 643 Close: additional provision from 
mobile library 

Kimberworth 
Park 

17.5 10514 603 Close: additional provision from 
mobile library  

Kiveton Park 35.5 29252 1252 Reduce opening hours to 32 per 
week. Pilot seasonal opening 

Maltby 50 45156 3559 Reduce opening hours to 40 per 
week. Link to customer services 

on “campus” basis 

Mowbray 
Gardens 

32 48655 1508 Increase opening hours to 40 per 
week. Case study on impact and 
best practice linked to Wickersley 

Rawmarsh 32 20236 1039 Pilot for joint Library & Customer 
Service Centre, involving 

temporary increase in hours, 
during which opening hours will be 

reviewed  

Swinton 44 57682 2639 Reduce opening hours to 40 per 
week. Link to customer services 

Thorpe Hesley 26 12223 661 Retain current opening hrs. Pilot 
work with volunteers to add value 

to current service 

Thurcroft 26.5 21909 655 Reduce hours to 26 per week, 
term time only. Additional provision 
from mobile during school holidays 

Wath 46 113794 2979 Increase opening hours to 49 per 
week. “Hub” site for north of 

borough. Access to additional 
Council services 

Wickersley 45 66990 3642 Reduce opening hours to 40 per 
week. Case study on impact and 
best practice linked to Mowbray 

Gardens 

 

The public consultation ran from June until the end of August 2012. We held 
drop in sessions for the public in all our libraries across the borough and 
people could complete forms to let us know their views either on-line or in 

Page 42



Page 4  
 

hard copy or by e-mail or by writing us a letter. We received responses in all 
these ways. To publicise the consultation and engage we: 
 

• Placed advertisements for the drop in sessions in the Rotherham 
Advertiser, Dinnington and Maltby Guardian 

• Provided information as required by  the media 

• Took part in interviews for local radio  

• Placed posters prominently advertising all drop in sessions 

• Displayed other information relating to the Library Review and 
consultation 

• Engaged proactively with staff and public to alert all to consultation 
during the consultation period. 

• Held drop in session for Members 

• Held consultation sessions with staff 

• Held drop in sessions in all libraries, supported by dedicated e-mail 
address and website 

 
Main issues arising from  the consultation (summary available as 
appendix A) 
 

• A total of 1760 feedback forms received along with emails and letters 

• Libraries are well loved, much appreciated service, seen as hub of 
community 

• Positive comments about current activities and demand for increased 
range of services, including work with children, elderly, unemployed, 
readers, those needing support to use ICT, access to information  

• Objections to closures and/or reduced opening hours; suggestions 
for alternative closures and opening hours based on 
location/accessibility/deprivation 

• Challenge to notion of “hub” sites and to difference between need 
and usage 

• Demand for books, including e-books 

• Need to reflect emerging Council policy on deprived communities in 
relation to the libraries that serve these communities. 

 
Further analysis has been undertaken in terms of Council policy on areas of 
deprivation in the borough which prioritised the following deprived 
communities: Aston North, Canklow, Dalton/Thrybergh, Dinnington Central, 
East Dene, East Herringthorpe, Eastwood, Ferham/Masborough, Maltby 
South East, Rawmarsh East, and Town Centre. Appendix B has further 
details of the deprived communities and the libraries that serve them.  
 
New Service Model Proposal 
 
The proposed new service model is detailed in Appendix C and is 
summarised in the table below:- 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



Page 5  
 

Library Current 
hours 

proposed 
hours – 

consultation 
version 

Final 
proposed 
hours 

Comment 

Riverside 52.5 55 55 “Flagship” provision for borough. 
Support for deprived communities 

Aston 44.5 49 46 Work towards joint delivery of library 
and customer services. Support for 
deprived communities 

Brinsworth 26.5 26 26 Explore potential for new 
build/community management model 
with Parish Council 

Dinnington 49.5 49 46 Work towards joint delivery of library 
and customer services. Support for 
deprived communities. Review in 12 
months to assess impact of new 
opening hours  

Greasbrough 40 32 32 Review in 12 months to assess 
impact of Kimberworth Park closure  

Kimberworth 16.5 Close 20 Increase hours to support 
Kimberworth Park and deprived 
communities 

Kimberworth 
Park 

17.5 Close Close Additional provision from mobile 
library, Booklink and at Kimberworth. 

Kiveton Park 35.5 32 
seasonal 

32 
seasonal 

Same number of hours all year, 
seasonal pattern 

Maltby 50 40 46 Work together with Customer 
services to improve services locally. 
Support for deprived communities 

Mowbray 
Gardens 

32 40 40 Support for deprived communities 

Rawmarsh 32 46.5 46 Work towards joint delivery of library 
and customer services. Support for 
deprived communities 

Swinton 44 40 40 Work towards joint delivery of  library 
and customer services 

Thorpe 
Hesley 

26 26 26 Retain current  number of opening 
hours 

Thurcroft 26.5 26 term 
time 

20 all year Hours distributed across full year in 
response to consultation 

Wath 46 49 46 Retain current number of opening 
hours 

Wickersley 45 40 40 Review in 12 months to assess 
impact of new opening hours 

(The new opening times for each library will be worked out to take account of  all previous 
Library review work and future follow-up work e.g.consultation, assessment of need, 
performance and timetabling with implementation of new hours intended from April 2013.) 
 

Whilst the physical library building based in Kimberworth Park will close 
under this proposal, it must be emphasised that the library service to the 
Kimberworth Park area will continue. We will continue to work with the local 
community and local partners to enable the delivery of the library service in 
other ways e.g. Mobile Library; Home delivery; use of other nearby Libraries 
e.g. Greasbrough, Kimberworth; consideration of use of other venues in the 
Kimberworth Park area for some activities as appropriate. 
 
 
 

Page 44



Page 6  
 

To support service delivery to customers and to ensure the service on offer 
is relevant and attractive:- 

• We will ensure our libraries provide the right reading at the right time 
by ensuring our stock is of good quality, well displayed, appropriate 
and provides choice. We will spend £1.52 per head on books and 
other materials.  This is a reduction from £1.98 per head but it still 
means that we will continue to spend around £390,000 each year.  

• We will continue to offer free access to the internet and a range of 
online information sources, including e-magazines  and continue to 
improve e-enabled services generally. Libraries will continue to be a 
place that people come to for information. Staff will help customers 
access the increasing number of local and national services available 
on-line. 

• We will provide easily accessible local safe and welcoming spaces 
for community groups or individuals to learn, explore, improve their 
skills and socialize together with high quality learning programmes as 
part of the library offer to children, families and individuals to 
encourage all ages learning and reading together for life. 

• We will refocus the mobile library service to improve access to 
services across the Borough. 

• We will look to provide access to other Council and Partner services 
in a number of libraries. 

• In order to serve all communities, and taking into account the travel 
habits of current customers, we will continue to aim to provide a 
library within 2 miles of every resident, with a range of opening hours 
to suit local need. 

• Where opening hours are reduced, we will assess the impact of this 
and work with partners and communities. 

• We will refocus the roles of staff to support the delivery of a modern, 
vibrant service. 

• We will continue to deliver services to our most vulnerable 
communities, including children, young people, families, and the 
elderly. We will continue to deliver a varied programme of events and 
activities for them. We want more people to use the library 
service, more often. 

 
8. Financials 
 
The reductions in expenditure based on the proposed new service model 
are:- 
 

• Close one library (Kimberworth Park), reduce opening hours from 
584 per week to 561 per week and refocus mobile library services: 
£180,666 

 

• Reduce spend per head on books and other materials from £1.98 to 
£1.52: £117,807 

 

• Refocus roles of strategic and support staff to enable delivery of 
modern, vibrant service: £201,527  

 

• Total savings: £500,000 (including £160,000 in MTFS) 

Page 45



Page 7  
 

 
In addition we will work towards the joint delivery of services at Rawmarsh, 
Aston, Swinton and Dinnington libraries and customer service centres to 
increase the range of services on offer whilst increasing efficiency.  
 
9. Risks and Uncertainties 
 
If this new service model for the Library and Information Service in 
Rotherham is approved, there would need to be a full staffing and service 
review. This could include library and customer services as appropriate and 
would need to take place Dec 2012 – March 2013. We would then be 
aiming for full implementation of the new service model by April 2013. The 
risks and uncertainties here could be in the tight timeframe. Should there be 
any slippages in this schedule, then this would impact on budgets for 
2013/14.  
During the course of 2013/14, we would begin to evaluate the new service 
model, rollout and develop the local library offer. 
 
10. Policy and Performance Agenda Implications 
 
Libraries contribute to the following priority outcomes: 
 

• More people in our poorest communities are in work and training 

• There are more successful new businesses 

• More people come to the Town Centre for work, shopping and for 
things to do and see 

• More people are in work or training and less are living on benefits 

• People enjoy parks, green spaces, sports, leisure and cultural 
activities 

• More people have formal qualifications and skills 

• Babies and preschool children with a good start in life 
 
11. Background Papers and Consultation 
 
Wirral Inquiry Report, DCMS, Sept 2009 
What Makes a Good Library Service? CILIP, rev. ed. Dec 2010 
Council Seminar:  4th October 2011 
Cabinet Member, Lifelong Learning and Culture – approval of library 
strategy: 19th January 2011 (Minute F11) 
Cabinet Paper - Review of Library and Information Service 23rd November 
2011 
Library and Information Service Strategy 2011-15  
Cabinet Paper - Review of Library and Information Service 20th June 2012 
Assessment of Need & Rationale documents – see 20th June Cabinet 
reports pack. 
Improving Places - Review of Library and Information Service 25th July 2012 
Council Seminar:     2nd October 2012 
Appendix A – Library Review Consultation  report (summary) 
Appendix B – Equalities Analysis of Library and Information Service 
(summary) 
Appendix C – A Vision to Deliver and Modern and Vibrant Library Service 
(public document) 

Page 46



Page 8  
 

 
Contact Names: 
Paul Woodcock. Director of Planning, Regeneration & Culture 
Ext : 22971                         paul.woodcock@rotherham.gov.uk 
Elenore Fisher. Customer and Cultural Services Manager 
Ext : 23623                          elenore.fisher@rotherham.gov.uk 
Bernard Murphy.  Manager, Library and Information Service 
Ext: 55509                         bernard.murphy@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
 
 

Page 47



Library & Information Service     Appendix A  
   
Library Review Consultation Report 2012 
 
 
Background 
A review of the Library & Information Service has been undertaken to identify 
proposals for future service delivery. These proposals are based on an assessment of 
local need and take into account the statutory requirement for the service and 
available resources. They are informed by the Library Strategy 2011-15, which aims to 
deliver a modern, vibrant library service and have been subject to an equalities 
assessment. They also take into consideration the eleven areas which have been 
prioritised as part of the areas of deprivation policy of RMBC. 
 
Purpose and scope of the consultation 
The aim of the consultation was to inform library users and stakeholders about the 
proposals, gain their views on any changes and provide them with an opportunity to 
influence future service delivery. It should be emphasised that the consultation was 
about how we can provide a modern and vibrant library service across the borough 
within the resources available. It was not just about opening hours and buildings. (We 
also encouraged people to give us their own alternative opening hours models) 
The Library & Information Service is, by its nature, open to all. The target audience for 
consultation therefore is a wide one, made up of all those who live, work or learn in 
Rotherham, including those who do not currently use libraries. 
 
Main issues arising from the consultation 

• Total of 1760 feedback forms received along with emails and letters 

• Well loved, much appreciated service, seen as hub of community 

• Positive comments about current activities and demand for increased range of 
services, including work with children, elderly, unemployed, readers, those needing 
support to use ICT, access to information  

• Objections to closures and/or reduced opening hours; suggestions for alternative 
closures and opening hours based on location/accessibility/deprivation 

• Challenge to notion of “hub” sites and to difference between need and usage 

• Demand for books, including e-books 

• Need to reflect emerging Council policy on deprived communities in relation to the 
libraries that serve these communities 

 
The Consultation process 
The Library Review Project Board explored the needs of the different communities and 
stakeholders to be consulted; discussed the proposed methods of engagement and 
agreed the timetable.  
 
The RMBC Library Services led on the consultation and with support from the 
Community Engagement Team worked with appropriate partners to deliver the 
consultation.  
 
During the period of consultation (27th June to 31st August 2012) public 
meetings/events took place at every library site as well as a drop in session for 
members at the Town Hall.   
 
In addition information was published on the RMBC website and reference documents 
were placed in all libraries and customer service centres. Information was also made 
available for local papers with press releases and interview provision on request. 

Page 48



Flyers & posters inviting communities to drop-in to bespoke events were circulated via 
local Parish Councils, Community Groups and Area Assembly networks.  Posters 
were also placed in local venues prior to events in the locality. 
 
Consultation response 
Many positive comments were received from respondents about the library service 
and the staff who work within the branches. It is clear that the libraries are valued 
within the communities they serve not just for borrowing books but for access to 
computers and the activities on offer. 
 
The scale and tone of responses varied from library to library according to the 
proposal put forward. Many people gave explanations as to why they were opposed to 
or approved of the proposal for “their” library. These varied according to personal 
circumstances and preferences however for some library’s patterns emerged where it 
was felt that groups of people would be affected by the proposed changes e.g. older / 
younger people or workers.  
 
In addition to branch specific responses more general comments were received from 
other areas of the Council and partners. Staff within the Library Service also made 
comments and put forward suggestions based on their local knowledge. These have 
also been considered in developing future proposals. 
 
Detailed branch level consultation summaries will be made available on the website 
which will include equalities data, comments and details of activities and services 
people would like to see delivered from their library.  
 
A brief summary of the community library level responses follows: 
 
Aston 
Positive comments were received regarding the proposal to increase hours from 44.5 
to 49 hours per week. 
Of the 101 responses received the preferred option selected for opening times was 
reasonably evenly split, with option A achieving 52.5% & option B, 47.5%. 
 

 Option A Option B 

Monday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.30am – 7.00pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 6.00pm 9.30am – 5.00pm 

Wednesday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.30am – 5.00pm 

Thursday 9.00am – 7.00pm 9.30am – 7.00pm 

Friday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.30am – 5.00pm 

Saturday 9.00am – 3.00pm 9.30am – 1.00pm 

Sunday Closed 10.00am – 2.00pm 

 
Respondents, staff and the member for the area were particularly concerned at the 
prospect of losing Wednesday opening until 7pm as this would impact negatively on 
both the adults & children’s reader groups.  
Weekend opening was popular with families who have commitments during the week 
however there were mixed views as to the merits of Sunday opening. 
 
 

Page 49



Brinsworth 
Many respondents expressed relief that their library is not closing and said that a new 
library is needed. 
 

 Option A Option B 

Monday 9.00am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 4.30pm 

9.00am – 12.30pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 6.00pm 

9.00am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 6.00pm 

Wednesday Closed 9.00am – 1.30pm 

Thursday 9.00am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 5.30pm 

9.00am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 4.00pm 

Friday Closed Closed 

Saturday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm 

Sunday Closed Closed 

 
No specific concerns were raised regarding the proposal to decrease hours from 26.5 
to 26 hours per week. 
Of the 81 responses received the preferred option selected for opening times was 
option A which achieved 67.9%, whereas 30.9% selected option B.  
A few people commented that they were happy with current opening times. 
Comments suggest that Option A was preferred by people who want to use the library 
after school or work with several saying more evening opening would be useful.  
 
Dinnington 
There were comments regarding the proposal to decrease hours from 49.5 to 49 
hours per week mainly around concerns that this was the beginning of an ongoing 
planned process of reducing hours. 
Of the 175 responses received the preferred option selected for opening times was 
option A which achieved 62.3%, whereas 20% selected option B. 
Comments indicated that option A was more popular due to the availability of evening 
opening times.  
 

 Option A Option B 

Monday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.00pm – 5.00pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 7.00pm 9.00am – 7.00pm 

Wednesday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Thursday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Friday 9.00am – 7.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Saturday 9.00am – 2.00pm 9.00am – 4.00pm 

Sunday Closed Closed 

 
 
Greasbrough 
In response to the proposal to decrease hours from 40 to 32 hours per week some 
said; it is frustrating that this library has to reduce its hours, it is important to keep your 
local library even if the hours are shorter and 32 hours would be the absolute 
minimum. There were also requests for longer and later opening hours and for the 
opening hours to remain the same. 
 
Of the 95 responses received the preferred option selected for opening times was 
option A which achieved 76.8%, whereas 23.2% selected option B. 
 

Page 50



 

 Option A Option B 

Monday 9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 7.00pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

9.00am – 2.00pm 

Wednesday Closed Closed 

Thursday 9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 7.00pm 

9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

Friday 9.00am – 2.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

Saturday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm 

 
 
Kimberworth 
The proposal is to close Kimberworth Library and deliver a mobile library service.  
 
In addition to the 63 hard copy and online consultation responses a number of e-mail, 
written and verbal comments were received. A petition against the closure of this 
library with 156 signatures was also accepted.  
 
Question 1 – People were asked where and when they would like a mobile service to 
be. Many were not receptive to this stating that they don’t want a mobile service, they 
wouldn’t be happy about it, the service wouldn’t be adequate, wouldn’t be suitable to 
their needs and they would like to keep the current library open.  
Respondents also put forward a wide variety of possible days, times & locations for a 
mobile service, which are included in the detailed branch consultation summaries later 
in this report. 
 
Question 2 - When asked 14.3% felt that they or a relative would benefit from our 
home library service (subject to meeting certain criteria). 
 
Question 3 - Given the opportunity to add any other comments about their library & the 
proposed changes 82.5% answered this question.  
 
Many expressed their dissatisfaction at the prospect of the library closing saying; it 
would be a great loss, it’s a fantastic facility, staff are polite, friendly and helpful, it is a 
well used centre for many activities, it is a lovely place to come socially and it is 
important to the people of Kimberworth.  
 
Respondents raised issues related to inconvenience and the cost of travel getting to 
an alternative location should the library close. Concerns were also raised regarding 
the loss of the library for the activities it provides and as a centre for the community.  
 
Kimberworth Park 
The proposal is to close Kimberworth Park Library and deliver a mobile library service.  
 
In addition to the 74 hard copy and online consultation responses a number of e-mail 
written and verbal comments were received. A petition against the closure of this 
library with 305 signatures was also accepted. 
 
Question 1 - People were asked where and when they would like a mobile service to 
be. Several respondents said they don’t want a mobile service and gave reasons why. 

Page 51



Some said they wouldn’t use it and they are happy with the existing library service and 
would like to keep the library open.  
Varies suggestions were put forward for days, times & locations for a mobile service 
based on individuals preferences and circumstances. 
 
Question 2 - When asked 13.5% felt that they or a relative would benefit from our 
home library service (subject to meeting certain criteria). 
 
Question 3 - Given the opportunity to add any other comments about their library & the 
proposed changes 91.9% answered this question.  
 
Most said that they did not want the library to close and added positive comments 
about the friendly and helpful staff and the service provided.  In general they felt that 
the library is a vital part of the community of particular importance to young people and 
the elderly. 
 
Respondents raised issues related to inconvenience and cost of travel should the 
library close. Another common concern was the impact the library closure could have 
on children through the reduction in learning opportunities.  Similarly there were 
comments about how the loss of computer and internet services could affect children 
and the unemployed who use them to do their homework or look for jobs. 
 
Kiveton 
The proposal is to decrease the opening hours from 35.50 hours per week to 32 hours 
per week and put these into a seasonal timetable.  
Several requests were made to leave things as they are in the interest of consistency 
for users, including half day closing on Tuesdays.  
Lunchtime closing seemed unpopular and some felt that different opening hours for 
summer and winter would be confusing and result in wasted journeys. 
It was said that the changes will make it more difficult for people who work to access 
the service and reduce opportunity for children to use the library to do their homework. 
Later opening was suggested for this reason.  
Concerns were also expressed that the proposals would adversely affect the 
children’s reading group after school on Mondays. 
 
Some alternative opening hours models were put forward which emerged from 
discussion involving Members and Kiveton Library staff. 
 
Of the 95 responses received the preferred option selected for opening times was 
option A which achieved 49.3%, whereas 20% selected option B. 
 

 Option A - Summer Option A - Winter 

Monday 9.00am–1.00pm &  
2.00pm–6.00pm 

9.00am–1.00pm &  
2.00pm–5.00pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

Wednesday Closed Closed 

Thursday 9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 7.00pm 

9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

Friday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

Saturday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm 

Sunday Closed Closed 

 

Page 52



 

 Option B - Summer Option B - Winter 

Monday 9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

9.00am – 2.00pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

Wednesday Closed Closed 

Thursday 9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 7.00pm 

9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

Friday 9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

9.00am – 1.00pm &  
2.00pm – 5.00pm 

Saturday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm 

Sunday Closed Closed 
 
Maltby 
Disappointment was expressed by some respondents regarding the proposal to 
decrease hours from 50 to 40 hours per week. 
 
Some respondents raised concerns, particularly as this library serves one of the most 
deprived areas of Rotherham. They said that they can’t see the merit of developing 
Dinnington as a hub site as Maltby residents are unlikely to travel to access services 
elsewhere, especially as Maltby has one of the lowest levels of car ownership in the 
borough. It was suggested that both Dinnington & Maltby co-exist as large libraries & 
each take a smaller & more proportional reduction in opening hours. 
 

 Option A Option B 

Monday 9.00am – 7.00pm 1.00pm – 5.00pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 2.00pm 

Wednesday Closed 12 noon – 5.00pm 

Thursday 9.00am – 7.00pm 9.00am – 7.00pm 

Friday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Saturday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm 

Sunday 10.00 – 2.00pm 10.00 – 2.00pm 

 
Of the 62 responses received the preferred option selected for opening times was 
option A which achieved 54.8%, whereas 33.9% selected option B. 
In addition to those who asked for opening times to stay as they are many comments 
were made as to why people preferred or disliked the options and these varied 
according to personal circumstances. There were several suggestions for Sunday 
closure and requests for evening and Wednesday morning opening. 
 
Staff also commented on opening times saying that it would be a loss to all to cut back 
the opening times by 10 hours. They said that they feel busier at the start of the week 
but that Friday afternoons are quieter. They didn’t feel that Wednesday closing was a 
good idea and suggested that late night opening should not be the same as 
Wickersley (Tuesday & Thursday).  
 
Mowbray Gardens 
There was a positive response regarding the proposal to increase the number of 
opening hours from 32 hours to 40 hours per week.  
 
106 consultation feedback forms were received with 45.3% selecting A as their 
preferred option for opening times and 44.3% selecting option B. 
Many people commented that they would like to see the library open on Wednesdays 
and Sundays and also have some late night opening.  

Page 53



There were several comments that option A is better for working people to attend the 
library.                                                                                                                                                                                                            

 Option A Option B 

Monday 9.00am – 7.00pm 9.00am – 2.00pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Wednesday Closed 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Thursday 9.00am – 7.00pm 9.00am – 7.00pm 

Friday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.00am – 2.00pm 

Saturday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm 

Sunday 10.00 – 2.00pm Closed 

 
Rawmarsh 
This Library has recently moved to the new Joint Service Centre on Barber’s Avenue 
and is part of a trial to deliver joint library and customer services.  
 
There was a low overall response rate when compared to other libraries with only 32 
consultation feedback forms being received. 
 
The proposal consulted on is to open 40 hours per week (option A & B), or option C 
which retains current opening hours without the later night opening. 
Of the 32 responses majority preferred option C (78.1%) with 15.6% choosing option 
B & 9.4% selecting option A.  
 
There was one comment that closing at 5.30 creates difficulty due to work 
commitments. 
 

 Option A Option B Option C (to 
remain the same) 

Monday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.30am – 5.30pm 9.00am – 5.30pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.30am – 5.30pm 9.00am – 5.30pm 

Wednesday 2.00pm – 6.00pm 2.30pm – 6.30pm 9.00am – 5.30pm 

Thursday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.30am – 5.30pm 9.00am – 5.30pm 

Friday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.30am – 5.30pm 9.00am – 5.30pm 

Saturday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm 

 
Riverside House 
No specific comments were made regarding the proposal to increase the opening 
hours at Riverside Library from 52.5 hours to 55 hours per week. 
 
Of the 434 responses received the preferred option selected for opening times was 
reasonably evenly split, with option A achieving 53.5% & option B, 46.3%. 
 

 Option A Option B 

Monday 8:30am – 7:00pm 9.00am – 7:00pm 

Tuesday 8:30am – 5:30pm 9.00am – 7:00pm 

Wednesday 8:30am – 5:30pm 9.00am – 6:00pm 

Thursday 8:30am – 7:00pm 9.00am – 7:00pm 

Friday 8:30am – 5:30pm 9:00am – 6:00pm 

Saturday 9:00am – 4:00pm 9.00am – 4.00pm 

Sunday Closed Closed 

 
A few people said that they prefer earlier opening as they would be able to visit the 
library on their way to work. More people including workers and students expressed 
their preference for later opening as it would allow them to come to the library after 
work, school, mosque or college. Workers and students also requested some Sunday 

Page 54



opening to increase opportunities for them to access the library and a few asked for 
later Saturday opening. 
 
Swinton 
In response to the proposal to decrease the number of opening hours from 44 to 40 
hours per week some people commented that it is unfair for Swinton to lose out whilst 
Wath gains. 
 
Of the 56 responses received the majority preferred option A (71.4%) and 25% chose 
option B.  
Many respondents commented that option A is better as the closure of the library on 
Wednesday afternoon would correspond to that of the parade of shops located 
adjacent to the library. 
Some however said that the changes make the library inaccessible to people who 
work during the day and that evening opening is needed on at least one day. 
 

 Option A Option B 

Monday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 5.00pm 2.00pm – 5.00pm 

Wednesday 9.00am – 12.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Thursday 9.00am – 6.00pm 9.00am – 6.00pm 

Friday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Saturday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm 

Sunday Closed Closed 

 
Thorpe Hesley 
The proposal was to retain the same number of opening hours per week but with 
revised options for opening hours.  
 
Of the 83 responses received 30.1% chose option A and 16.9% selected option B with 
the remainder 53% selecting neither of the options on offer. The comments made 
suggest that many people would prefer to retain the current opening hours with 
recurring comments summarised as follows: 
• The proposed changes conflict with the use of the WREN room which the library 

shares with other centre users. 
• The current hours fit in with other groups that use the community centre e.g. 

Brownies & church services.  
• Neither option is an improvement as they both reduce the number of days when 

the library is open after work.  
• The half an hour later opening on a Sunday would prevent people from visiting the 

library prior to the 10.00am church service. 
 
During the consultation process a member of staff suggested slightly different opening 
hours for consideration based on local knowledge.  
 

 Option A Option B 

Monday 1.30pm – 4.30pm 1.30pm – 4.30pm 

Tuesday 9.30am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 4.30pm 

9.30am – 12.30pm 

Wednesday 2.30pm – 6.00pm 2.30pm – 6.00pm 

Thursday 9.30am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 7.00pm 

9.30am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 7.00pm 

Friday Closed 9.30am – 12.30pm 

Saturday 10.00am – 12.30pm 10.00am – 12.30pm 

Sunday 10.00am – 12.30pm 10.00am – 12.30pm 

Page 55



 
Thurcroft 
The proposal consulted upon is to reduce the number of opening hours from 26.50 
hours to 26 hours per week and open the library in term time only (40 weeks of the 
year). For the remaining 12 weeks an alternative service would be provided with a 
mobile stop in the village. 
  

 Option A Option B 

Monday 9.00am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 4.00pm 

9.00am – 12.30pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 6.00pm 

9.00am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 6.00pm 

Wednesday Closed 9.00am – 12.30pm 

Thursday 9.00am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 6.00pm 

9.00am – 12.30pm &  
1.30pm – 5.00pm 

Friday Closed Closed 

Saturday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm 

Sunday Closed Closed 

 
Of the 83 responses received the preferred option selected for opening times was 
option A 63.9% with option B achieving 24.1%. Several people expressed their 
dissatisfaction at the proposal to reduce evening opening and said that they would like 
the library to continue opening until 7pm to enable visits after work or college. 
 
81.9% of the respondents answered question 3 which gave them an opportunity to 
comment on the proposed changes. Of these 53 (64%) gave reasons why they are 
dissatisfied at the proposal to open term time only and receive a mobile service during 
the weeks which the library is closed.  
 
Wath 
The proposal is to increase hours from 46 to 49 hours per week and change the 
opening hours to one of the two options below. 
Of the 74 responses received the preferred option selected for opening times was 
option B (63.5%) with option A achieving 36.5%. 
 

 Option A Option B 

Monday 9.00am – 7.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Wednesday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Thursday 9.00am – 7.00pm 9.00am – 7.00pm 

Friday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Saturday 9.00am – 2.00pm 9.00am – 4.00pm 

Sunday Closed Closed 

 
Evening opening was also seen as beneficial for workers, both for themselves and to 
enable them to take their children after work. This group and shoppers also favoured 
longer opening on Saturday. 
Several respondents suggested early morning opening before school or work. 
 
Wickersley 
The proposal consulted upon is to reduce the number of opening hours from 45 hours 
per week to 40 hours per week.                                                                                                                                                                         
Many respondents said they disagree with the proposed reduction in hours, with some 
saying that it is unfair that such a well used, vibrant and thriving library will lose hours 

Page 56



whereas others will gain under these proposals. Concerns were also raised that 
Wickersley is a new library and that these changes are disruptive coming such a short 
time after opening. 
Some respondents urged reconsideration of the reduction in opening hours on the 
basis that this branch has high usage / low cost per visit compared to other libraries. 
They also expressed concerns regarding the role of hub libraries and where these are 
located.  
Objections were also received from the Parish Councillor, users and staff.  
In support of these objections the rationale for the proposals was questioned and 
usage statistics were quoted to demonstrate that Wickersley is on par with / out 
performs the larger libraries proposed to open more hours than this branch.  
 
Of the 166 responses received the preferred option opening times was option A 58.4% 
with 29.5%.selecting option B. Many respondents however asked for the opening 
times and hours to remain as they are as they find them more suitable for their needs. 
Many comments were made as to why people preferred or disliked the options 
proposed for opening times and these varied according to personal circumstances. 
Recurring issues raised were:  

• Do not want Sunday opening and concerns regarding the cost of this. 

• Option B chosen due to 2 late closures but don’t want Sunday opening. 

• Families and people who work said that they like weekend opening hours and that 
later opening during the week makes the library accessible to them.  

• Closure on Tuesday p.m. will affect the readers group and may mean that OAPs 
cannot access library as this is the only time they can come to library via community 
transport.  

 

 Option A Option B 

Monday 9.00am – 2.00pm 9.00am – 7.00pm 

Tuesday 9.00am – 5.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm 

Wednesday 9.00am – 5.00pm Closed 

Thursday 9.00am – 7.00pm 9.00am – 7.00pm 

Friday 9.00am – 2.00pm 9.00am – 5.00pm 

Saturday 9.00am – 1.00pm 9.00am – 1.00pm 

Sunday Closed 10.00am – 2.00pm 

 
 
Next steps 

• Feedback gathered throughout the consultation process has been used to shape 
the proposals for the future of the Library and Information Service. 

• Lessons learned during the process will inform future consultation events and in a 
few cases as appropriate we may consider short follow up consultation events at 
some libraries. 

• A service improvement plan will be developed in response to consultation to try to 
address any issues raised and take account of comments and suggestions for the 
development of a modern and vibrant library service. As part of this work we will 
also develop a site by site action plan e.g. libraries where the work of the review and 
the consultation has raised stock issues may receive a boost in terms of targeted 
Book fund. 

Page 57



Summary of Equality Analysis of Library and Information Service Appendix B 

Analysis of the actual or likely effect of the Policy or Service:   
Research Proposals and Details 
 
The Council has a statutory duty (under the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964) to 
provide a comprehensive and efficient library service to residents and those who work or are 
in full-time education in the Borough. 
 
Proposals for future service delivery have taken account of: 

• Consultation on what Rotherham people liked about libraries and what their priorities 
were for the future 

• An assessment of local need for the service 

• Localities review 

• Library and Information Service Strategy 2011-15 

• The service’s contribution to corporate outcomes 

• Key national, regional and local strategies 

• The experiences of other local authorities 

• Options presented by the review of customer services 

• An analysis of current budgets. 

• The  responses to the public consultation on the Library Review 

• The changes to Council Policy in terms of the 11 prioritised Areas of Deprivation. 
A third of Rotherham’s population live in areas which are amongst the most deprived 20% in 
England and 97% of the population live in the most deprived 50% of England. The main area 
of deprivation is Central Rotherham but there are significant outliers in Rawmarsh, Maltby 
and Dinnington. See below:  list of all the Libraries in Rotherham which serve the 11 
areas of Deprivation  
 
Library site 
 

Deprived areas 
served 

Riverside Canklow 
Eastwood 
Ferham/ Masbrough 
Town centre 

Aston Aston North 

Brinsworth  

Dinnington Dinnington Central 

Greasbrough  

Kimberworth Ferham /Masborough 
 

Kimberworth Park  

Kiveton Park  

Maltby Maltby South East 

Mowbray Gardens Dalton/ Thrybergh 
East Dene 
East Herringthorpe 
Eastwood 

Rawmarsh Rawmarsh East 

Swinton  

Thorpe Hesley  

Thurcroft  

Wath  

Wickersley  

 
 

Page 58



ASSESSMENT OF NEED 
 
An assessment of local need for the service has been undertaken which describes local 
needs in Rotherham for a Library and Information Service, including the general and specific 
needs of adults and children, who live, work and study full time in the borough.  
The needs assessment draws on a wide range of data to establish the demographic 
composition of  communities, the way that communities in Rotherham use their local libraries, 
how those libraries are managed by the Council, and library users’ and non-users’ views of 
the Library and Information Service.  
 
Each substantive section of the assessment details a different aspect of need as follows: 
 

• the borough: need based on social conditions and access; and 

• the current service model: need as demand, service usage and performance. 
It also draws on other data such as surveys of users and non-users 
and national performance indicators. It identifies key areas where the library service could 
have greatest impact and it considers resources available, including staff, buildings and 
stock. 
 
The needs assessment concludes that there is a need for access to a library service in 
every community in Rotherham.  
 
Libraries: 

• Promote a love of reading and help to improve literacy. 

• Provide a space where people can engage in informal learning, develop skills and 
improve their lives. 

• Provide children and young people with a safe, inspiring place to learn, explore their 
creativity and find their talent. 

• Support businesses and contribute to the sustainability and regeneration of our local 
communities. 

• Are welcoming spaces, open for all to use to improve their lives and their communities. 

• Offer information and reading services that can improve the health and well being of 
customers. 

• Bridge the digital divide and are, for many people, an essential point of access to 
online knowledge resources. 

 
However, every community is different. We have therefore considered if the service could 
be delivered differently in some places, as appropriate, within the overall aim of 
delivering a modern, vibrant and efficient library service across the Borough. For 
example, not every community necessarily needs to have a service run from a library building 
and the present library hours may not be necessarily as appropriate as they once were. 
 
This equality analysis has been undertaken on the proposals, which includes 
reference to the protected characteristics of age, disability, gender, identity, race, 
sexuality and religion or belief, pregnancy and maternity, marriage and civil 
partnership. In addition, the proposals have considered the impact on other groups 
e.g. the unemployed and those with literacy needs. 
 
We believe that the options for consideration will continue to meet the statutory duties 
of the Council in respect of library services and will provide a modern, vibrant, efficient 
service based on the Library Strategy. 
Consultation 

Page 59



 

The public consultation ran from June until the end of August 2012. We held drop in sessions 
for the public in all our libraries across the borough and people could complete forms to let us 
know their views either on-line or in hard copy or by e-mail or by writing us a letter. We 
received responses in all these ways.     
To publicise the consultation and engage  we : 
 

• Placed advertisements for the drop in sessions in the Rotherham Advertiser, 
Dinnington and Maltby Guardian 

• Provided information as required by  the media 

• Took part in interviews for local radio 

• Placed posters prominently advertising all drop in sessions 

• Displayed other information relating to the Library Review and consultation 

• Engaged proactively with staff and public to alert all to consultation during the 
consultation period. 

• Held drop in session for Members 

• Held consultation sessions with staff 

• Held drop in sessions in all libraries, supported by dedicated e-mail address and 
website 

 
Main issues arising from the consultation (summary available as appendix A) 
 

• Total of 1760 feedback forms received along with emails and letters 

• Well loved, much appreciated service, seen as hub of community 

• Positive comments about current activities and demand for increased range of 
services, including work with children, elderly, unemployed, readers, those needing 
support to use ICT, access to information  

• Objections to closures and/or reduced opening hours; suggestions for alternative 
closures and opening hours based on location/accessibility/deprivation 

• Challenge to notion of “hub” sites and to difference between need and usage 

• Demand for books, including e-books 

• Need to reflect emerging Council policy on deprived communities in relation to the 
libraries that serve these communities. 

 
Account has been taken of Council policy on areas of deprivation in the borough  which 
prioritised the deprived communities: see table above  
 
Future proposals include satisfaction surveys which will be carried out periodically to 
ascertain user satisfaction with specific library sites. Equality monitoring with disaggregated 
data will be carried out to measure satisfaction and impact of the proposed option. This will 
help us to monitor the future impact of our service on communities/groups according to their 
protected characteristic. If this data shows any disproportionality of service outcome with any 
of the equality strands then measures will be adopted to help mitigate that disparity and work 
towards achieving equality in service delivery. 
 
In addition we invite regular feedback from our users from all libraries. The verbal comments 
are collated by staff and analysed by management to take action.  This helps us to identify 
concerns before they become an issue 
 
 
 

Page 60



PROPOSED FUTURE SERVICE PROVISION  
 
Library Current 

hours 
Original 
proposed 
hours 

Revised 
proposed 
hours 

Revised option 

Riverside 52.5 55 55 “Flagship” provision for borough. 
Support for deprived communities 

Aston 44.5 49 46 Work towards joint delivery of library 
and customer services. Support for 
deprived communities 

Brinsworth 26.5 26 26 Explore potential for new 
build/community management model 
with Parish Council 

Dinnington 49.5 49 46 Work towards joint delivery of library 
and customer services. Support for 
deprived communities  Review in 12 
months to assess impact of new 
opening hours 

Greasbrough 40 32 32 Review in 12 months to assess 
impact of Kimberworth Park closure  

Kimberworth 16.5 Close 20 Increase hours to support 
Kimberworth Park and deprived 
communities 

Kimberworth 
Park 

17.5 Close Close Additional provision from mobile 
library, Booklink and at Kimberworth 

Kiveton Park 35.5 32 
seasonal 

32 
seasonal 

Same number of hours all year, 
seasonal pattern 

Maltby 50 40 46 Work together with Customer services 
to improve services locally. Support 
for deprived communities 

Mowbray 
Gardens 

32 40 40 Support for deprived communities 

Rawmarsh 32 46.5 46 Work towards joint delivery of library 
and customer services. Support for 
deprived communities 

Swinton 44 40 40 Work towards joint delivery of  library 
and customer services 

Thorpe 
Hesley 

26 26 26 Retain current  number of opening 
hours 

Thurcroft 26.5 26 term 
time 

20 all year Hours distributed across full year in 
response to consultation 

Wath 46 49 46 Retain current number of opening 
hours 

Wickersley 45 40 40 Review in 12 months to assess 
impact of new opening hours 

 
Whilst the physical library building based in Kimberworth Park will close under this proposal, 
it must be emphasised that the library service to the Kimberworth Park area will continue. We 
will continue to work with the local community and local partners to enable the delivery of the 
library service  in other ways as appropriate e.g. Mobile Library; Home delivery; use of other  
nearby Libraries e.g. Greasbrough, Kimberworth; use of other venues in the Kimberworth 
Park area as appropriate. 
We believe that the options for consideration will continue to meet the statutory duties 
of the Council in respect of its library services and provide a modern vibrant library 
service based on the Library Strategy. 

Page 61



 
We anticipate a limited impact on service users  
 
The proposal which includes the reduction of a library at Kimberworth Park, was based 
on its location, usage which has decreased, value for money E.G. Mowbray Gardens cost per 
visit is £2.34p. Kimberworth Park cost per visit is £3.44p and also considering libraries 
serving the 11 areas of deprivation in Rotherham. (see above table) 
 
Active membership is reducing at Kimberworth Park Library 
08 – 09   738 active members 
10 – 11    603 active members 
 
There will be other service options available for Kimberworth Park such as a Mobile Library 
stop near to the current library site and a home delivery service to the people that cannot 
easily access the mobile vehicle. However we will monitor the service at regular intervals to 
ensure equality in service delivery. 
  
We do not anticipate any barriers in service delivery.  We believe that Libraries show equality 
towards all groups of protected characteristic - Race, Ethnicity, Gender, and Disability. Age,  
– Data in the assessment of need shows that people from all the above groups currently use 
the library service and our proposed service changes will have limited impact on them. 
 
Our Mission Statement - Our Mission: "Everyone who lives, learns, works and plays in 
Rotherham can enjoy using the Library Service which is right for them - wherever, 
however and whenever they need." 
 
Improving the service:   
 
The majority of the proposal for changes in Service Delivery came from the Library and 
Information Service Strategy e.g. seasonal opening times, co-location of services.  
Although there are some slight reductions in opening times, some of the libraries will increase 
opening times. These proposals were based on statistical information collated in libraries 
over the past 3 years and from the needs assessment.   
 
Stock procurement and provision 
We consider that the reduction for stock procurement will have a limited impact on our 
customers and is based on the proposed service model. Our Stock Policy ensures the 
stock we currently hold is up to date and relevant. We will continue to purchase new material 
and will ensure that there is a wide range of material available.  This is supported by the 
Library Request Service, which is offered to all customers and means we circulate stock to 
provide requested items free of charge, “Customers said “a good choice of stock” was 
important to them during the Adult Library and Information Survey in 2009 and the 
consultation undertaken for the Library and Information Strategy in 2010. 
 
Staffing Implications 
There will be changes to staffing to enable us to implement the new service model and 
enable savings of around £500,000 arising out of the Review. It is likely that the changes will 
include new roles and responsibilities. 
A relatively small number of staff will be directly affected by this and we will be using current 
vacancies and consideration of Voluntary Severance requests to help cushion the impact. 
We have considered the loss of function of certain roles and  will consider how they might be 
consolidated elsewhere in the new structure 

Page 62



 
 

Because of this we believe there will be limited impact on staff with regards to post 
reductions.   
 
What effect will the Policy/Service have on community relations?   
No direct issues relating to community cohesion have been identified. As Riverside House 
Library is closest in terms of proximity to BME users, it does demonstrate diversity in usage 
of its premises. Consequently we do not anticipate any cohesion issues arising out of this 
review. However, we will continue to monitor users and invite periodic feedback. 

Page 63



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Rotherham Library Service Review 

 
In July 2011 the Library and Information Service Strategy was introduced with the aim of 
improving the library experience for local people as well as defining future priorities for the 
service. The Strategy outlines the overarching commitment to provide a library and 
information service fit for the 21st Century. It outlines a Borough wide library offer stating the 
service will: 
 

• Promote a love of reading and help to improve literacy. 
• Provide a space where people can engage in informal learning, develop skills and 

improve their lives. 
• Provide children and young people with a safe, inspiring place to learn, explore their 

creativity and find their talent. 
• Support businesses and contribute to the sustainability and regeneration of our local 

communities. 
• Provide welcoming spaces, open for all to use to improve their lives and their 

communities. 
• Offer information and reading services that can improve the health and well being of 

customers. 
• Bridge the digital divide acting as an essential point of access to online knowledge 

resources. 
 
Since the publication of the strategy the public sector has been presented with immense 
funding pressures. The shift to mobile technology and the web revolutionising the way we 
work has seen customer demands and expectations change. In order to meet all of these 
changes, it was felt appropriate to review the service. Therefore the aim of the Library 
Service Review has been to define new ways of delivering a high quality borough offer in the 
most cost effective manner. 

 

Rotherham Library and 
Information Service 

 

A vision to deliver a modern and vibrant service 
 

Appendix C 
 

Page 64



 

Rotherham Library and 
Information Service 

A vibrant vision to deliver a modern service 
 

Service Review 
 
We explored national, regional and local key strategies and matched this with the review 
experiences of other local authorities. As a result it became apparent we needed to 
undertake an extensive assessment of local need. In this piece of work we examined usage, 
performance and service demands. We reviewed all our available resources, including staff, 
buildings and stock. All of the gathered information was evaluated and a new model of 
service delivery was devised. These initial proposals were published in the summer 2012 for 
a period of public consultation. 
 
Consultation Process 
 
Inviting public comment was hugely beneficial and it offered an insight into individual and 
community wants and wishes. Collating all the responses has been a vital part of the review 
and the detailed reports can be accessed from www.rotherham.gov.uk/libraries or from any 
of our libraries. 
 
Overall it was evident to see how all of our library venues are well loved and much 
appreciated. Positive comments were made about current activities and demands were made
for increasing the range of services, specifically broadening our work with children, elderly 
people and unemployed individuals. Objections were raised in relation to closures and the 
changes of opening hours caused much debate.  
 
A vast number of those who responded referred to their local library as the 'Hub' of their 
community. It was noted how the library is a one stop shop for neighbourhood information, as 
well being a safe space to meet and relax. From the consultation it was clear to conclude our 
customers expect a quality experience when using our services, a vibrant, bright welcoming 
space providing a modern environment with the opportunity for reading, activities, relaxation, 
enjoyment, free access to the internet, information and learning. 
 
 
Developing a Local Library Offer 
 
To shape a dynamic and confident local library offer we had to consider a range of priorities 
and practicalities: 
 
Opening hours are targeted to reflect peak visitor times and are designed to meet the 
customer usage requirements of delivering a quality service across the whole borough.  
 
Changes to Council policy in terms of deprived areas have emerged during the consultation 
period refocusing the borough wide offer and we intend to work in line with the council policy 
on supporting the 11 most deprived communities. The service remains accessible to all, 
supporting the most vulnerable in order to close the gap between the most and least 
deprived neighbourhoods.  
 
Links will continue to be established in order to integrate local services. The library service 
will see these developments as a seamless joining of council services and at a local level 
people can access a range of neighbourhood and information services from one venue.  
 
  
There is a need for access to a library service in every community in Rotherham and 
every community is different. The shape of the new service makes best use of our 
assets and increases their impact for the benefit of all our communities. To ensure our 
services are delivered effectively and efficiently we will continue to engage with 
Rotherham residents inviting them to measure our achievements. 
 
 

 

Page 65



 
 

Library No. of 
opening hrs 

What does it mean for the Libraries I use? 

Riverside 55 A “flagship’ for cultural services integrating community arts, theatres 
and heritage services.Targeted support offered to areas of 
disadvantage in line with council policy. 

Aston 46 Work towards joint delivery of library and customer 
services.Targeted support offered to area of disadvantage in line 
with council policy. 

Brinsworth 26 Explore potential for new build incorporating community 
management boards with Parish Council. In the meantime, continue 
with current library. 

Dinnington 46 Work towards joint delivery library and customer services.Targeted 
support offered to area of disadvantage in line with council policy. 
Review in 12 months to assess impact of new opening hours. 

Greasbrough 32 Review in 12 months time to assess impact of Kimberworth Park 
closure. 

Kimberworth 20 Targeted support offered to area of disadvantage in line with council 
policy. Increased hours to support Kimberworth Park.  
 

Kimberworth Park Close Provide a mobile library service accessible to all. Establish Booklink 
support for isolated individuals e.g. Home delivery. Increase of 
opening hours at Kimberworth to help support. Work with Partners to 
consider use of other venues for some activities in the Kimberworth 
Park area as appropriate. 

Kiveton Park 32 (seasonal) Same number of hours all year but seasonal pattern. 

Maltby 46 Targeted support offered to area of disadvantage in line with council 
policy. Work together with Customer services to improve services 
locally. 

Mowbray Gardens 40 Targeted support offered to area of disadvantage in line with council 
policy. 

Rawmarsh 46 Work towards joint delivery of library and customer services. 
Targeted support offered to area of disadvantage in line with council 
policy. 

Swinton 40 Work towards joint delivery of library and customer services. 

Thorpe Hesley 26 Retain current number of opening hours. Work with partners and the 
local community to extend community involvement. 

Thurcroft 20 (all year) Hours distributed across full year in response to consultation  

Wath 46 Retain current number of opening hours 

Wickersley 40 Review in 12 months time to assess impact of new opening hours. 

The New Service 
 

Page 66



 
 
 
 

Delivering a Future Vision Now 

 
To support service delivery to customers and to ensure the service on offer is relevant and 
attractive both now and in the future we will focus on the development of the following key 
areas: 
 
Reading 
We will ensure our libraries provide the right reading at the right time by creating lively and 
stimulating spaces for all ages in which readers feel free to explore. We will have a wide 
range of materials to satisfy the range and levels of people's leisure and study needs. We will 
create opportunities for people to share reading, from readers groups to book chains, author’s 
events to websites. To ensure our stock is of good quality, well displayed, appropriate and 
provides choice we will spend £1.52 per head on books and other materials. 
 
Information and Digital 
Our increasingly popular web-based services give customers 24 hour access to online 
renewals, reservations, enquiries, information and more. We are currently exploring ebook 
packages and developing our website and social networking facilities, improving access to 
and the interactivity of services. Libraries will continue to be a place that people come to for 
information. Our knowledgeable skilled staff will help customers access the increasing 
number of local and national services available on-line. 
 
Learning 
Our libraries provide easily accessible local safe and welcoming spaces for community groups 
or individuals to learn explore, improve their skills and socialise. We are committed to 
providing high quality learning programmes as part of the library offer to children, families and 
individuals to encourage all ages learning and reading together for life. 
 
People 
Our staff are knowledgeable, helpful, approachable, enthusiastic and answer enquires 
accurately and confidently. As the way the service is delivered changes and the library offer is 
localised to meet the needs of different communities, we need to ensure the staffing profile 
has the right mix of leadership, skills, knowledge and commitment, enabling them to provide a 
high quality service. 
 
Promotion and Marketing 
We will encourage more people to use our service, more often by raising the profile and 
consolidating the image of service. This will be implementing through a sustained marketing 
plan.  
 
 

And finally.... 
Our future libraries will focus on the needs of individuals and the needs of our borough 
and communities. We will provide modern spaces and vibrant services to support 
individuals and the community incorporating media, technology and developing a 
profile of multifunctional activities. As a library service, we aim to be a physical and 
virtual destination, encouraging more people to use us more often. 
 

 

www.rotherham.gov.uk/libraries 
 

Page 67



 

 
 
1.  Meeting: CABINET 

2.  Date: 21st  November 2012 

3.  Title: Response to Self Regulation Select Commission 
Review Report into the Council’s Budget Setting 
Process  

4.  Directorate: Resources 

 
5. Summary 
 
This report recommends to Cabinet, SLT’s response to the Self Regulation Select 
Commission’s Review of the Council’s Budget Setting Process, with proposals in 
respect of each of the recommendations arising from the review. 
  
 
6. Recommendations 
 
Cabinet are asked to:  
 

• Approve the response to the Self Regulation Select Commission’s 
Review into the Council’s Budget Setting Process. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL – REPORT TO MEMBERS 

Agenda Item 9Page 68



 

 

7. Proposals and Details 
 
Introduction 
 
This report sets out the response to the Self Regulation Select Commission’s Review 
into the Council’s Budget Setting Process that was reported to Cabinet on 5th 
September 2012. 
 
The review was initiated by the Select Commission and was conducted by a Budget 
Sub Group. The review focussed on the key areas in the Centre for Public Scrutiny’s 
Report ‘On the Money: The Scrutiny of Local Government Finance.  The resultant 
recommendations in Appendix 1 to this report arose following discussions with 
portfolio holders on the 2012/13 Budget Setting Process. 
  
 
Response to the Recommendations 
 
The review made 21 recommendations in total. Cabinet is asked to consider and 
support the responses to the recommendations detailed in Appendix 1 of this report. 
 
8. Finance 
 
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
     
 
9. Risks and Uncertainties 
 
Providing the opportunity to challenge the budget process and proposals increases 
the opportunity for the Council to maximise use of its available funding.  
 
10. Policy and Performance Agenda Implications 
 
Implementation of the recommendations from the review will provide a tighter control 
framework for challenging how resources are allocated and used, and provides a 
means to test whether the Council is directing its resources effectively to deliver its 
priorities and is achieving value for money.   
 
 
11.  Background Papers and Consultation 
 

• Self Regulation Select Commission Report - Review of the Council’s Budget 
Setting Process, Cabinet 5th September 2012 

 
Contact Name:  
 
Andrew Bedford, Strategic Director of Resources, ext 22002; 
e-mail: Andrew.bedford@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 69



 

 

                 Appendix 1 
Scrutiny of the Budget Setting Process 
 

Recommendation Response Lead Officer(s) 

Recommendation 1.  
The sub-group considers that a tipping point has been 
reached; where decisions about transforming delivery or 
even ceasing provision in some areas will need to be 
articulated, as ‘salami slicing’ services cannot be 
sustainable. 

 
Agreed. Increasingly budget proposals for 2013/14 and beyond will 
have a focus on savings and efficiencies from service 
transformation or cessation, unless it is clear from the impact 
assessment that service reduction is a sustainable option.   
 
Consultation and communication in respect of proposed key 
service reductions to be implemented at the earliest opportunity. 
(Where the savings proposals are ultimately approved they should 
be implemented at the earliest opportunity to maximise the level of 
saving, including the potential for a part year saving in the current 
financial year)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Relevant 
Service Director 
and Head of 
Comms & 
Marketing. 
  

Recommendation 2.  
In these circumstances, the scrutiny members would argue 
for a realistic assessment of the risks attached to these 
reductions, particularly in relation to delivering Council 
priorities and sustaining performance. 

 
Agreed. Impact Assessments to be included with budget proposals 
at an early stage and to include reference to risks on sustaining 
service performance at an acceptable level and on the expected 
impact of delivering Council priorities.   

 
Service 
Directors 
 

Recommendation 3.  
That Cabinet Members examine whether 2011/12 savings 
have been realised and explore the impact on services and 
priorities if this is not the case. The results of these 
deliberations to be reported to Self-Regulation Select 
Commission at the earliest opportunity. 

 
Agreed. Details to be included in the December Cabinet Budget 
Monitoring Report with the report subsequently being considered 
by Self-Regulation Select Commission. 

 
Chief Finance 
Manager 

Recommendation 4.  
Whilst appreciating that difficult decisions have been taken 
to reduce spending; the sub-group seek assurances that 
how we communicate service changes as a result of these 
spending reductions, is taken into account and clearly 
evidenced when the budget is being considered. 

 
Agreed. Budget savings proposals to clearly include details of who 
would be impacted by the proposed saving and the extent to which 
communication has taken place, or will take place with those 
affected. 

 
Service 
Directors 

Recommendation 5.  
That portfolio responsibilities are clarified and 
communicated to ensure that duplication is minimised. 

 
Agreed. New portfolio responsibilities were assigned by the Leader 
in 2012/13 which will help address this particular matter.  

 
Not Applicable 

P
a
g
e
 7

0



 

 

Recommendation 6.  
That wider consideration is given to the impact of service 
reductions within other portfolio areas which may negatively 
impact on the Council’s ability to deliver key priorities; and 
any risks and uncertainties arising from these discussions 
are clearly evidenced when budget proposals are being 
discussed.   

 
Agreed. See response to Recommendation 2. 
 

 
Service 
Directors 

Recommendation 7.  
Given all parts of the public sector are facing budget 
pressures and seeking to make savings; the sub-group 
would seek reassurance that in the Council’s work with 
partners (for example around policing and anti-social 
behaviour) that early discussions take place about the 
consequences of decisions taken by respective bodies 
which may have an impact on joint operations or services 
and these are clearly evidenced when the budget is being 
considered. 

 
Agreed. The Council, at both a Member and Officer level, works 
closely with its partners in jointly considering budget proposals to 
ensure that a holistic impact assessment is put forward. 
 
  

 
Service 
Directors 

Recommendation 8.  
The sub-group would seek reassurance that the impact of 
decisions on parish councils has been explored by each of 
the relevant portfolio holders and directorates and risks 
mitigated when the budget is being considered.  
 

 
Agreed. See response to Recommendation 7. 

 
Service 
Directors  

Recommendation 9.  

The sub-group recommends that the development of core 
strategies and needs analyses, including the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment, reflect the developing 
Welfare Reform agenda. 

 

 
Agreed. An impact assessment for welfare reform has been 
developed, which is helping to drive responses across the Council 
and partner organisations. The impact assessment will be further 
developed and includes direct and indirect impacts arising including 
budget and policy priority implications. 

 
Service 
Directors 

Recommendation 10.  
Similarly, given reductions in grant allocation to the 
Voluntary Sector, the sub-group would seek reassurance 
that the impact on advice and guidance services has been 
explored and risks mitigated. 
 

 
Agreed. Budget proposals that affect the Voluntary Sector will be 
clearly signposted and the impact assessment will contain details of 
communications which have taken or will take place. Any such 
proposal will also include details of the extent to which, and how, 
any risks are to be mitigated. 

 
Service 
Directors 

P
a
g
e
 7

1



 

 

Recommendation 11.  
 The sub-group believes that steps should be taken to 
ensure that EIA requirements are taken into account and 
clearly evidenced in reports when the budget is being 
considered. 
 

 
Agreed. See Recommendation 2.  
 
 

 
Service 
Directors 

Recommendation 12.  
Members were not clear whether the delivery of Council 
priorities would be compromised if voluntary sector partners 
were unable to provide services. The sub-group believes 
that steps should be taken to ensure that these 
requirements are taken into account and clearly evidenced 
when the budget is being considered. 

 
Agreed. See recommendation 10. 

 
Service 
Directors 

Recommendation 13.  
The sub-group believes that voluntary sector partners 
should demonstrate outcomes as a result of Council 
expenditure or grants and these are taken into account 
when the budget is being considered. 

 
Agreed. See Recommendation 10. Additionally, all Service Level 
Agreements (SLA’s) or Contracts with Voluntary Sector partners 
will continue to clearly state required outcomes and require 
reporting of these outcomes to agreed timescales. 

 
Strategic 
Commissioning 
Manager 
 
 

Recommendation 14.  

The sub-group would support a longer approach to 
resolving the areas of historic overspend in Children and 
Young People's Services. 

 
Agreed. The Service is continuing its programme of transformation 
including new working arrangements and structures that will take 
time to embed. The 2012/13 revenue budget monitoring reports 
reflect this position. 

 
Strategic 
Director (CYPS) 

Recommendation 15.  
The sub-group would ask for proposals to be put forward to 
address budget pressures related to older people’s 
residential care in the medium term financial strategy. 
 

 
Agreed. The Service are actively looking to put forward proposals 
to address older people’s residential care pressures as part of the 
2013/14 budget setting process (covering the period 2013/14 to 
2015/16) for elected Member consideration. 

 
Strategic 
Director (NAS) 

Recommendation 16.  
The sub-group asks that a realistic assessment of asset 
disposal and maintenance cost is undertaken, and reflected 
in future budget deliberations. 
 

 
Agreed. The Council over the last few years has been proactively 
looking to rationalise its asset ownership and manage the 
associated disposal and maintenance costs in difficult market 
conditions. All such decisions are taken with the knowledge of the 
likely estimated costs. Consideration of the future budget 
requirement to meet these costs will be considered in the context of 
the Council’s Asset Management plans.  

 
Director of Audit 
and Asset 
Management 

P
a
g
e
 7

2



 

 

Recommendation 17.  
That in areas reliant on grant funding or non-recurrent 
spend, that clear exit strategies are developed and 
implemented, and that these strategies are clearly 
evidenced in budget deliberations 
 

 
Agreed. Since the start of this Coalition Government, the number of 
grant funding streams has dramatically reduced. Exit strategies for 
the residual streams are either in place or being worked up to 
ensure integration with the Council’s MTFS.   
 
 

 
Service 
Directors 

Recommendation 18.  
The sub-group asks that a realistic assessment of risks 
attached to the transfer of public health is undertaken, and 
reflected in budget projections. 

 
Agreed. Once confirmed, details of Public Health budgets will be 
incorporated into the Council’s Budget and MTFS. Any potential 
risks around the level of funding transferred to deliver future Public 
Health services in the Borough will be considered at that time.  
 

 
Director of 
Public Health 

Recommendation 19.  
The sub-group believes that steps should be taken, in line 
with Council priorities, to ensure that opportunities for 
partnership working or alternative service delivery are taken 
into account and clearly evidenced when the budget is 
being considered in future years. 
 

 
Agreed. The Council is continuing to consider opportunities for 
further joined up or partnership working across all sectors and 
alternative service delivery working. Any opportunities will be 
considered in the context of the Council’s corporate priorities and 
MTFS. 
 

 
Strategic 
Directors / 
Service 
Directors 

Recommendation 20.  
That the outcomes of budget consultations are able to be 
used at a more timely point to inform our questioning of 
budget options particularly around more sensitive areas.  

 
Agreed. The planned Budget Setting Timetable provides Members 
with opportunity to consider budget proposals prior to it being 
formally adopted. 
 
 

 
Director 
(Commissioning, 
Policy & 
Performance)  

Recommendation 21.  
If Members are to undertake proper and robust scrutiny of 
budget proposals in future years, there needs to be a clear 
and shared understanding of what information can be 
expected, in what format and at what stage of the process. 
 

 
 
Agreed. In formulating the 2014/15 Budget Setting Timetable, we 
will look to set out timely opportunities for Scrutiny to consider 
budget proposals and agree the format of the information to be 
shared. 

 
 
Strategic 
Director 
(Resources) 

 
 

P
a
g
e
 7

3



 

 
 
1.  Meeting: Cabinet 

2.  Date: 21st November 2012 

3.  Title: Response to Scrutiny Review: The Role of School 
Governors 

4.  Programme Area: Children & Young People’s Services 

 
 
5. Summary:   
 
The Improving Lives Select Commission undertook a review, between September 
2011 and April 2012, into the role of the local authority in supporting governing 
bodies to undertake their leadership and challenge role in schools and achieve the 
best outcomes for pupils. The outcomes of the review were published in July 2012 
and submitted to Cabinet on 5th September 2012.   
 
The Review identified 16 recommendations covering the following areas: 

• School Governor’s Taskforce 

• Recruitment 

• Local Authority governors 

• Induction and Training 

• Role of the Clerk of governing Bodies 

• Services provided by the Council 
 
The School Effectiveness Service welcomes the interest of the Improving Lives 
Select Commission into the roles and responsibilities of governing bodies and 
recognises the positive impact that effective governing bodies can have upon school 
improvement. 
 
In compiling a response to the 16 recommendations within the Review, the Governor 
Development Service considered it crucial to obtain the views of school governors 
into the validity and feasibility of the recommendations. A copy of the Scrutiny 
Review was forwarded to all Chairs and Vice Chairs of governing bodies in 
September 2012 and, in addition, a substantial part of the agenda of the Chairs and 
Vice Chairs Forum held on 3rd October 2012 was given to consideration of the 
Review document and in particular the recommendations contained within. The 
views expressed by those attending this meeting, along with the views of the 
Governor Development Service are reflected in this response, which can be found as 
an Appendix to this report. 
 
 
6. Recommendations:   

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL – REPORT TO MEMBERS 

Agenda Item 10Page 74



 

• To agree the responses provided in relation to the Recommendations of 
the Scrutiny Review 

 
 
7. Proposals and Details:   
Please refer to the Appendix to this report  
 
 
8. Finance:   
There are no direct financial implications for the Council arising out of this review as 
much of the work associated with implementing the Recommendations can be 
incorporated into the work plan of the Principal Officer: Governor Development, 
however as work from the recommendations develop, this could have financial 
implications for school budgets, either directly i.e. Recommendation 14, or indirectly 
via developments to the services offered to governing bodies via the Leadership 
Levy (any developments which have funding implications would have to met from 
schools’ budgets because there is no budget allocated by the Council to support the 
work of the Governor Development Service with governing bodies). 
 
 
9. Risks and Uncertainties:   
The Review re-iterated the important role school governors have in challenging poor 
performance and improving outcomes. Underperformance is often prevalent in more 
deprived communities and to tackle this there is an increasing need to recruit 
governors with a range of skills and experiences that can support improvements in 
schools.  
 
Failures in effective governance can have a negative impact on Ofsted outcomes for 
schools, potentially leading to an increase in schools judged inadequate by Ofsted. 
In turn, this could lead to a rise in the number of schools being forced by the 
Government to become sponsored academies, independent of the local authority, 
thereby impacting negatively on the positive influence a local authority can have in 
raising standards of attainment.   
 
 
10. Policy and Performance Agenda Implications:   
Transforming Rotherham Learning is a key strand of the Children and Young People 
Services Plan, and effective governance can contribute significantly to the 
achievement of this priority.  
 
 
11. Background Papers and Consultation:   
Scrutiny Review: Role of School Governors 
Chairs and Vice Chairs Forum: 3rd October 2012 
 
 
Contact Name: Paul Carney, Principal Officer: Governor Development, Children & 
Young Peoples Services – Tel: 01709 740226, Email: 
paul.carney@rotherham.gov.uk  
 

Page 75



 

Cabinet’s Response to Scrutiny Review: Role of School Governors 
 
Recommendation Cabinet 

Decision 
(Accepted/ 
Rejected/ 
Deferred) 

Cabinet Response 
(detailing proposed action if accepted, rationale for 

rejection, and why and when issue will be reconsidered if 

deferred) 

Officer 
Responsible 

Action by 
(Date) 

School Governor’s Taskforce 

Recommendation 1 

That a Taskforce comprising of 
representatives of governing bodies 
already accredited with developing good 
practice is established. Their role and 
responsibilities should include: 

- Create local Good Practice 
Guidelines, including a checklist of 
the elements that comprise an 
effective governing body 

- Benchmark and cascade good 
practice, knowledge/skills to others 
and train new governors 

- Provide peer support and high 
challenge through the Learning 
Communities 

- Working with the School 
Improvement Partnership 
Board/Teaching School Alliance to 
look at barriers to improvement 
e.g. removing ineffective 
governors 

- Encourage governing bodies from 
underperforming schools to 
collaborate with their peers from 
high performing schools; 

Accepted This recommendation was generally welcomed by Chairs 
and Vice Chairs as a positive development and some 
expressions of interest in becoming involved in such a 
Taskforce were made at the meeting. 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Jan/Feb 
2013 

P
a
g
e
 7

6



 

- Specifically support governing 
bodies to tackle safeguarding 
issues in schools. 

- Commission support and 
development activities through 
Rotherham School Improvement 
Partnership (RoSIP) 

- Identify and seek funding for 
Governor support and 
development through National 
Leadership Fund  

 

Recruitment 
Recommendation 2 

A generic person specification is 
developed by the LA Governor 
Development Service in consultation 
with Governing Bodies. As a minimum, 
prospective governors must display 
confidence to ask questions and query 
outcomes. 

 

Accepted This recommendation was generally welcomed by 
governors, though comment was made that often 
effective governors are developed over time and do not 
come “ready-made”. A formal process/expectation might 
be off-putting to some prospective governors, and 
ultimately some governing bodies might miss out on 
potentially effective individuals. 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Jan 2013 

Recommendation 3 

Each school be encouraged to develop 
a more specific role description, 
detailing the expectations attached to 
any specific responsibilities (e.g SEN, 
Safeguarding, improving outcomes for 
Looked After Children or finance).    

 

Accepted Governing bodies are currently reviewing (Autumn Term 
2012) which nominated governor positions they have in 
place. Governor Development has already developed a 
range of specific role descriptions, which are currently 
undergoing review. These will be shared with clerks to 
governing bodies at their Spring Term 2013 briefing 
sessions and governing bodies will be advised to ensure 
that every nominated governor has an agreed role 
description in place. These will also feature on the 
Governor Development Service website (see 
Recommendation 16). 

 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Dec 2012 

P
a
g
e
 7

7



 

Recommendation 4 
Consideration be given to encourage 
Local Authority officers to become 
Governors, with appropriate time off for 
attendance for meetings during the 
school day 

Accepted Discussions have already been held with Paul Fitzpatrick: 
Human Resources to investigate how this 
recommendation can be achieved in the most effective 
and efficient way 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Work 
already 
commenced 

Recommendation 5 
Consideration should be given (by both 
schools and the LA) to the payment of 
expenses arising from undertaking the 
role, such as child care or travel 

Accepted in 
part 

The Local Authority cannot pay expenses to school 
governors. The Regulations covering expenses for school 
governors (The Education (Governors’ Allowances) 
Regulations 2003) specify that, for schools with delegated 
budgets, only the governing body of a school can 
establish a scheme for recompensing governors’ 
legitimate expenses. The costs of any scheme 
established by the governing body must be met from the 
school’s delegated budget, and historically many 
governing bodies have been reluctant to take money out 
of the school’s budget to cover such expenses. Governor 
Development has previously published guidance and a 
model Governors’ Expenses policy. This guidance and 
model policy will be re-published 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Jan 2013 

Local Authority Governors 
Recommendation 6 

That the Cabinet Member for Children, 
Young People and Families clarifies 
what expectations the Local Authority 
has of its appointees, including 
attendance at learning and development 
events  

 

Accepted The current procedure for recruiting Local Authority 
governors was last reviewed in July 2011, which 
incorporated prospective LA governors completing a 
revised Registration of Interest form. This form provides 
on opportunity for prospective governors to explain why 
they want to become a school governor as well as 
indicating the range of skills and experiences they could 
bring to the role. The form also clearly indicates that 
prospective LA governors are expected to make a 
commitment to raising standards of attainment and pupil 
achievement and to undertake induction and other 
ongoing training as appropriate. Prospective LA 
governors also have to agree to abide by a revised Code 
of Conduct for Local Authority governors. As a 
consequence of this review document, Cabinet Member 
for Children, Young People and Families’ Services has 
asked that the appointment process for LA governors be 
reviewed again. 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Jan 2013 

P
a
g
e
 7

8



 

Recommendation 7 
That prior to recruitment, LA appointed 
Governors complete an expression of 
interest form and undergo a recruitment 
process that clearly outlines the roles 
and responsibilities of LA Governors. 

Accepted See above Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Jan 2013 

Induction and Training 
Recommendation 8 

That the induction programme, co-
ordinated and delivered by the Governor 
Development Service, should include 
council and school processes that 
impact on governing body and 
information on support services. Each 
new or returning governor should be 
strongly encouraged to attend induction.   

Accepted The Induction for New Governors programme has been 
revised to incorporate this recommendation. All newly- 
appointed governors are provided with an Induction Pack 
upon appointment which emphasises the importance of 
undertaking the Induction training programme. 
 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Oct 2012 

Recommendation 9 

A programme for Continued 
Professional Development (CPD) be 
developed, including the greater use of 
e-learning and resources from the 
National College. This programme 
should include learning resources to 
support any specific roles or 
responsibilities (eg performance 
management, HR, chairing skills) 

 

Accepted There was unanimous agreement that appropriate and 
flexible training and development opportunities should be 
available for individual governors, governing bodies and 
within and across Learning Communities. The Governor 
Development Service is currently developing a 
Governance Leadership Development programme 
offering progressive CPD opportunities for all governors 
and clerks. This will be offered as part of the Leadership 
Levy offered to schools by the School Effectiveness 
Service. This programme will offer support and guidance 
from recruiting new governors through to supporting 
chairs of governors and will consist of a blended 
approach to learning and development, incorporating 
face-to-face, distance learning and online development 
opportunities. 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Jan 2013 P
a
g
e
 7

9



 

Recommendation 10 

Head Teachers to receive training or 
guidance in working with Governing 
Bodies 

 

Accepted The GDS has historically provided guidance each term to 
head teachers on the content of their written termly report 
to the governing body. This guidance is being completely 
revised to reflect the increased expectations on governing 
bodies to fulfil a largely strategic role and to hold the head 
teacher and senior leadership team to account for the 
quality of education provided at the school. Further 
development work in this area is being planned and will 
continue until an annual cycle of guidance (Autumn, 
Spring and Summer terms) has been completed. 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Sept 2012-
April 2013 

Recommendation 11 

Training in Self Evaluation techniques 
should be undertaken by all Governing 
Bodies with a view to undertaking this 
exercise every two years in line with 
National Governors Association criteria 
(or other resources) 

 

Accepted There are a multitude of governing body self evaluation 
tools available to support governing body development 
and effectiveness. Model governing body agendas 
provided by the Governor Development Service currently 
recommend that governing bodies consider self 
evaluating on an annual basis and provide a range of 
models that governing bodies may wish to choose from. 
All of these will shortly be available via the website 
(Recommendation 16) 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

April 2013 

Recommendation 12 

A Personal Development Review (PDR) 
to be undertaken (by appropriate 
staff/governor in school or through peer 
arrangements) ideally every two years 
with each Governor to ensure training 
and skills are kept up to date 

Rejected This recommendation provided the highest number of 
responses from chairs and vice chairs. Some thought that 
this was a good idea that should be promoted BUT should 
and could not be made mandatory, however the majority 
opinion was this recommendation would be very difficult 
to implement effectively, was impractical and could put off 
high quality but busy individuals from becoming or 
continuing as school governors. If Recommendation 11 
was implemented effectively, it would make this 
recommendation superfluous because individual and 
group training needs would be identified and plans 
developed and implemented to meet those needs. 
 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

 

P
a
g
e
 8

0



 

Recommendation 13 

Greater use should be made of online 
training by all school governors through 
the NGA and Modern Governor. 
Assessment and targets for online 
training should be discussed and 
agreed through the PDR process 

Accepted in 
part 

Online training, via Modern Governor, has been available 
to governors in Rotherham for over twelve months as part 
of the Leadership Levy. This is being utilised by some 
governors and governing bodies though its use is not yet 
fully embedded by many governors and governing bodies. 
The Governor Development Service aims to raise the 
profile of online training as part of the Governance 
Leadership Development programme mentioned in 
Recommendation 9. Targets for online training as part of 
the PDR process is rejected in accordance with 
Recommendation 12 above  

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Jan 2013 

Role of the Clerk of Governing 
Bodies 
Recommendation 14 

The Review recommends that further 
work is undertaken by the Governor 
Development Service, with the School’s 
Forum, to look at options to provide 
enhanced support to clerks. The review 
group suggest that this role could be 
undertaken across a cluster of schools 
by one ‘adviser’, whilst each body 
retains its clerk to undertake 
administrative tasks. 

Accepted in 
part 

Governors welcomed a focus on developing and 
enhancing support for clerks, and the PO:GD will 
incorporate support and development opportunities for 
clerks within the Governance Leadership Development 
programme (Recommendation 9). Comment was made 
that a Learning Community clerk was in principle a good 
idea, in practice this would be difficult to implement 
especially in the current financial climate. 
 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Jan 2013 

Services provided by the Council 
Recommendation 15 

The review supports the continuation 
and strengthening of the Governor 
Development Service within the current 
learning communities and other 
partnership arrangements. 

Accepted 
Many governors welcomed this recommendation as they 
commented that the support of the Governor 
Development Service was valued.  

 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

 

P
a
g
e
 8

1



 

Recommendation 16 
That the web pages hosted on the 
Council’s own and associated websites 
(eg Rotherham Connected Learning) 
are updated to ensure that relevant 
resources (such as role descriptions, 
guidance and links to other sites) are 
available online 

Accepted 
Work is ongoing to develop the Governor Development 
website which will be enhanced by the developments 
connected with this review     

 

Principal 
Officer: 
Governor 
Development 

Ongoing –
April 2013 

 
 

P
a
g
e
 8

2



Agenda Item 12 Page 83
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 13 Page 86
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted


	Agenda
	
	6 Housing Strategy
	Draft housing strategy 14-11-12

	7 Rotherham's Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
	Health and Being Final Strategy Oct12

	8 Library and Information Service Review Consultation Feedback
	Library Review Appendix A
	Library Review Appendix B
	Library Review Appendix C

	9 Response to Self Regulation Select Commission Review Report into the Council™s Budget Setting Process
	10 Response to Scrutiny Review: The Role of School Governors
	12 New Discretionary Rate Relief Top Up Applications
	13 New Discretionary Rate Relief Applications

